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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”)
is pleased to present its 2017 integrated annual report.
The information in this report has been selected to provide stakeholders with
an overview of our business model, performance, governance practices, our
strategy, as well as our risks and opportunities. The selection of issues to be
covered in this report was informed by inputs from our stakeholders, including
capital providers and regulators, and was further refined through engagement
with the executive management and the Board of directors.
The report covers all the operations of Atlantic Leaf. There has been no
change in the scope and boundary of this report relative to the 2016 report,
although the current report has been expanded to include a wider range of
information about the Company.
Readers should note that there have been changes in the size, structure and
shareholder base of the Company during the current reporting period. These
changes are due to ongoing capital raises and property acquisitions during the
year, which are discussed in more detail on page 27 of this report.
There has been no material restatement of information provided in earlier
reports. No external assurance has been sought, other than with regards to
the annual financial statements.
The information in this report has been selected to cater for the interests of
stakeholders who require a broad overview of Atlantic Leaf, but with specific
emphasis on investors and funders.

FRAMEWORKS AND ASSURANCE

HOW TO
NAVIGATE OUR
REPORT

The information included in the integrated report has been provided in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”),
Mauritian Companies Act 2001, Financial Reporting Act 2004, Mauritian
Securities Act 2005, SEM Listing Rules, JSE Listings Requirements,
International Integrated Reporting Council’s (IIRC) framework (“the
Framework”), The King Code of Corporate Governance (King III) and the
Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius (“the Code”).

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This icon signifies
related information
elsewhere in this
report

This report may contain forward-looking statements with respect to
Atlantic Leaf’s future performance and prospects. While these statements
represent our judgements and future expectations, several factors may
cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations.

For further information, please contact ITL on +230 430 0800 or visit

www.atlanticleaf.mu
This icon signifies
related information
available online at:
www.atlanticleaf.mu

APPROVAL OF THE INTEGRATED REPORT
The Board of directors of Atlantic Leaf (“the Board”) acknowledges its
responsibility to ensure the integrity of this report and confirm that this
integrated annual report addresses all material matters and provides a
balanced overview of the Company and its prospects. The Board has
therefore approved the 2017 Integrated Report for publication.
On behalf of the Board

Peter Bacon
Chairman
19 May 2017

Paul Leaf-Wright
Chief Executive Officer
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ATLANTIC LEAF
AT A GLANCE

The Company’s primary
objective is to provide
attractive returns to
investors, through
long-term investments
in quality real estate
assets in the United Kingdom
which have sound property
fundamentals and stable
contracted income.

OUR INVESTMENT
CRITERIA
The following criteria are considered in
evaluating each new investment
opportunity:
• Location and durability of assets;
• Core sustainable income flows,
existing and projected occupancy
rates and tenant covenant strength;
• Opportunities for asset enhancement
through active management, including
new lettings, refurbishment and
development;
• Rental yield spread relative to fixed
rate borrowing costs and financing
metrics; and
• Proper evaluation of a multitude of
risk factors, including security of
income, tenant covenants, residual
values, the physical condition of
properties, loan-to-value and interest
covenants and debt maturity profiles
in respect of leveraged purchases.

OUR PROPERTIES

SCOTLAND

North East
North West

UNITED
KINGDOM

Yorkshire & The Humber

East Midlands
West
Midlands

East
Anglia

WALES

South West

South East

SOUTH EAST
EAST ANGLIA

For more
information
on our
property
portfolio
refer to pages
12 – 18.

SCOTLAND
SOUTH WEST
EAST MIDLANDS
WEST MIDLANDS
NORTH WEST
NORTH EAST
WALES
YORKSHIRE AND THE HUMBER

Listed on
SEM & JSE AltX

MARCH 2014

PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION

–
Move to JSE
Main Board

NOVEMBER
2016

Retail
warehouse

Industrial
AUM

72%

2%

£304m
–
Equity

Office

£155m

26%

48 PROPERTIES
PROPERTIES
48
14
TENANTS
14 TENANTS
–
–
WAULT
WAULT

11.6 years
years
11.6

ASSETS

WHAT WE OFFER
• A portfolio of top quality commercial
properties, secured against long-term leases
to leading, mostly listed, tenants at
attractive yields.
• An experienced and agile team based in
London and Mauritius that is focused on
delivering earnings growth.

48 PROPERTIES
14Weighted
TENANTS
average

• Strong networks and relationships with key
service providers that allow the majority of
opportunities to be sourced off-market.

7.3%
11.6 years

• Geared property investments in a currently
low interest rate environment.

–
asset yield
WAULT

• Attractive forward yields.
• Plan to unlock further growth through asset
management opportunities.
LTV

51.7%

–
Average cost
of debt

3.2%
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ASSETS
ASSETS

BUSINESS
HIGHLIGHTS FOR
THE YEAR

GROWING

D STRIBUTION
DI

AUM GROWTH

56% GBP 304m

TARGET

2016

7.0

pence

2017

TARGET 2018

8.5

pence

9.0

from GBP 195 million

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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136%
GBP20
totoGBP
20 million

Disposal
of Wombourne
property resulting
in a net IRR of
34% – profit of
GBP 0.9 million

Healthy growth
in distributable
earnings up from
GBP 4.5 million to
GBP 11.6 million

Distributions

RESULT

2017 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

Rental revenue

pence

7.0

pence

8.5

pence

21%
to 8.5 pence per share

Move to
Main Board
of JSE
November 2016

Acquisition of
Runcorn and
Lynchwood House
properties

ATLANTIC LEAF HAS
PERFORMED WELL
IN ACHIEVING ITS
STATED OBJECTIVES
IN FY17

For more detail about our strategic direction and value
creation process, refer to pages 25 – 27.

Listed on
SEM & JSE

OUR
HISTORY

Y/E FEBRUARY
2015
MARCH
2014

AUM: £50 million

THE COMPANY

TRANSACTIONS

TARGET

ASSE
AS
SETS
SE
TS UNDER MAN
NAG
AGEM
EMEN
EM
ENT
T
2016

2017

£150

£300

FY2015

TARGET 2018

30% of Booker portfolio

FY2016

million

million

Acquisitions

20% – 30%
RESULT

growth

£195

£304

million

million

• British Capital portfolio
• Epwin portfolio
• 70% remainder of Booker portfolio
• Inspirepac
• Gestamp Tallent
• EE • Santander Cards

FY2017
• Palmer and Harvey McLane
• Booker Cash and Carry
• Halfords • E.ON UK
• Runcorn

GROWTH IN PROPERTY ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT (£ million)
350

Disposals

264
250

195

200

150

131

143

FY2017
Wombourne

158

100

50

0

50

68

27
Apr 14

Mar 15

Jun 15

Jul 15

Oct 15

Nov 15

Maiden
dividend
announced

Feb 16

Oct 16

Primary listing
on JSE
Y/E FEBRUARY
2016

AUGUST
2015
Interim dividend:

Feb 17

Moved to the
JSE Main Board
AUGUST
2016

JUNE
2016
Final dividend:
4 pence

3 pence

Y/E FEBRUARY
2017
NOVEMBER
2016

Interim dividend:

Final dividend:
4.3 pence

4.2 pence
AUM: £195 million

AUM: £304 million

05

• Lynchwood House (Peterborough)

304

300

OUR BUSINESS MODEL
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INVESTING IN HIGH
QUALITY, INVESTMENT
GRADE REAL ESTATE

Deliver performance
Distribution

Growth in EPS

Resources relied on

Knowledge in property
investment and experience in
fund management and deal
execution

Our risks
Societal and relationship
capital
Strategic

Credit

Market/
valuation

Regulatory
& legal

Growing networks which allows
us to source deals and financing

Manufactured capital
Our property portfolio

Financial capital
Funding

Operational

Funding from shareholders
and debt providers

Stakeholder relations

Human and intellectual capital

06
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Our strategy

Grow the company
AUM

Our value
contribution
Outcomes
Identify quality
properties in attractive
growth nodes

• Motivated and engaged people
• Strong Atlantic Leaf brand
and reputation
• Sustainable and consistent
earnings
• Capital growth
• Semi-annual dividend distribution

Effective deal
execution

Asset enhancements
and energy saving
initiatives
Partnering with service
providers to manage
properties

Governance

Redevelopment and
expansion of
properties

07

Efficient financial
structuring

Outputs

19.0

Value added

A
DIVERSIFIED
QUALITY
PROPERTY
PORTFOLIO

7%

61%

8.1

GBP
19 million

24%

in 2017
8%

Management Co/
Employees
Long Term Debt Providers
Government

2016 2017

Shareholders

Our strategies,
see pages
25 and 27.

Our risks,
see pages
47 – 49.

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
Listings information

ALP SHARE PRICE VS GBP/ZAR EXCHANGE RATE

FINANCIAL YEAR-END

28 FEBRUARY

30.00

ISIN

MU0422N00009

25.00

SEM SHARE CODE

ALPL.N0000

20.00

JSE SHARE CODE

ALP

JSE SECTOR

REAL ESTATE
HOLDINGS AND
DEVELOPMENT

SHARES IN ISSUE

15.00
10.00
5.00
0.00

142 671 209

29 Feb 31 Mar 30 Apr 31 May 30 Jun 31 Jul 31 Aug 30 Sep 31 Oct 30 Nov 31 Dec 31 Jan 28 Feb
2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2017 2017

TOTAL NUMBER OF
SHAREHOLDERS

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited

2016

216

GBP/ZAR

ALP (SEM)

SHARES AND LIQUIDITY
45%

08
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ALP (JSE)

2017

LIQUIDITY
AND FREE
FLOAT

2016

324

Tightly held

34% LIQUIDITY
AND FREE
FLOAT

55%

2017

66%

Free float

SHARES IN ISSUE/NEW SHARES ADDED
ALP shares (m)
160
140
120

90

123

Added
in FY2016

29 Feb 2016

19

143

Added
in FY2017

28 Feb 2017

100
80
60
40

34

20
0

28 Feb 2015

Closing shares in issue (m)

Shares added

1.17
1.16
1.15
1.14
1.13
1.12
1.11
1.10
1.09
1.08
1.07

SHAREHOLDER
DIARY

ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS

29 JUNE 2017

Other 7.63%
Mazi Capital 2.48%
Coronation Fund Managers 2.60%
Eskom Pension and Provident Fund 3.12%
Vukile Property Fund 29.59%

Sanlam Investment Management 3.18%
LCIP (Pty) Ltd 3.55%

ANNOUNCEMENT OF
FY2018 31 MAY 2017
FIRST QUARTER
RESULTS
(TENTATIVE DATE)
12 JULY 2017

APIL (Management) 5.00%
ABSA 5.03%

ANNOUNCEMENT
OF FY2018
31 AUGUST 2017
INTERIM RESULTS
(TENTATIVE DATE)

Visio Capital Management 9.58%
Sentinel Retirement Fund 28.25%

13 OCTOBER 2017

* To the best of the Company’s knowledge

INTERIM DIVIDEND
(TENTATIVE DATE)
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13 NOVEMBER 2017

Number of
holders

% of
holders

Number
of shares

% of
shares

1 – 999

66

20.4%

17 656

0.01%

ANNOUNCEMENT
OF FY2018
30 NOVEMBER 2017
THIRD QUARTER
RESULTS
(TENTATIVE DATE)

1 000 – 9 999

80

24.7%

269 080

0.2%

12 JANUARY 2018

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
Range

10 000 – 99 999

89

27.5%

3 701 602

2.6%

100 000 – more

89

27.5%

138 682 871

97.2%

324

100%

142 671 209

100%

Total

SHAREHOLDER TYPE
Number of holders
Public

28 FEBRUARY 2018

Number of
holders

% of
holders

Number
of shares

% of
shares

310

95.7%

47 333 325

33.2%

2

0.6%

82 511 368

57.8%

ANNOUNCEMENT
OF FY2018
28 FEBRUARY 2018
ANNUAL RESULTS
(TENTATIVE DATE)

324

100%

142 671 209

100%

18 APRIL 2018

Non-public

14

4.3%

95 337 884

66.8%

Directors and associates

12

3.7%

12 826 516

9.0%

Material shareholders (>10%)
Total

FINANCIAL
YEAR END

FINAL DIVIDEND
(TENTATIVE DATE)
14 MAY 2018

Atlantic Leaf maintains relationships
with a range of parties to continuously
improve the alignment of interests
between the Company and its key
stakeholders. The stakeholder groups
have been identified based on the
extent to which they can influence
the performance or strategic direction
of the Group.

SHAREHOLDERS AND FUNDERS
ISSUES RAISED

Earnings
growth

Share
tradeability

OUR RESPONSE:

OUR RESPONSE:

Asset management
opportunities as well
as changes in lease
terms and tenant
profile are designed to
support sustainable
earnings growth.

Share liquidity is
improving steadily.
Atlantic Leaf now has
a primary listing on
the Main Board of the
JSE, which will
further broaden the
investor audience.

Portfolio
diversification

Level of debt
and hedging

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

OUR RESPONSE:

OUR RESPONSE:

The portfolio
diversification in
terms of sector,
number of properties
and number of tenants
continues to improve
as the scale of the
portfolio increases.

The debt profile is
well placed for the
next three years in
terms of its hedging
strategy. Management
is comfortable with
the level of debt given
its strong cash flow,
interest cover, LTV
covenants, long term
leases and attractive
gap between asset
yields and borrowing
rate in the UK.

TENANTS

MANAGEMENT COMPANY AND PEOPLE

ISSUES RAISED

ISSUES RAISED

OUR RESPONSE:

Expansion
opportunities
Maintenance
Refurbishments
and
improvements

Our property managers
and our own team
conduct regular site
visits and maintain
strong relationships
with tenants to ensure
that we understand their
requirements and
growth strategies.

OUR RESPONSE:

Rewards
Career
development
& growth

We have regular and
consistent interactions
with our team to ensure
that they are adequately
challenged, continue to
grow and develop and are
rewarded based on key
performance measures.

Education &
training

11

Rent reviews
Cost of
occupation

REGULATORS
ISSUE RAISED

OUR RESPONSE:

Ongoing
compliance
with
regulatory
frameworks in
Mauritius,
South Africa
and the UK

We maintain a strong
focus on ensuring that
Atlantic Leaf complies
with all applicable
regulations. We also
report on a quarterly
basis.

PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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ATLANTIC LEAF’S
PORTFOLIO CONSISTS
OF QUALITY ASSETS
EACH HAVING LONGTERM, SINGLE-TENANT
LEASES WITH BLUE
CHIP OCCUPIERS IN
KEY REGIONAL
NODES IN THE
UNITED KINGDOM

Assets under
management

WAULT*

GBP 304 million

11.6 years

48 properties
14 tenants

Occupancy

100%

* WAULT – Weighted average unexpired lease term

A WELL DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIO
Robert McBride 2%
Bauer 2%
Homebase 2%
Palmer & Harvey 3%
EE 3%
Gestamp 4%
Booker 36%

Inspirepac 4%

SECTORAL SPREAD

TENANT
COMPOSITION
by income
(£)

E.ON 5%

Thomas Cook 6%

1%
9%

EPWIN 6%

BY GLA
DHL 8%

90%

Santander 10%
Halfords 9%

East Anglia 3% Wales 3%
South East 5%

2%
North East 18%

26%

York. & the humber 6%

Scotland 9%

REGIONAL
SPLIT
by income
(£)

BY
RENTAL
INCOME 72%
North West 15%

South West 12%

East Midlands 14%

West Midlands 15%

Industrial
Office
Retail warehouse

KEY PORTFOLIO
STATISTICS
Gross lettable area (GLA)

4 290 916 ft²
INDUSTRIAL

3 876 090 ft2

OFFICE

388 526 ft2

RETAIL WAREHOUSE

26 300 ft2

Weighted average lease term

11.59 years
EE Limited, Greenock

INDUSTRIAL

12.00 years

OFFICE

10.49 years

RETAIL WAREHOUSE

10.61 years

6 Strong tenant covenants
6 WAULT of 11.6 years to expiry
and 9.8 years to the break

INDUSTRIAL

7.21%

OFFICE

7.43%

RETAIL WAREHOUSE

7.24%

Weighted average rental/ft²

6 First expiry in seven years

7.85 GBP/ft²

LEASE EXPIRY PROFILE – NET RENTAL INCOME
48%

50

13

7.26%

STRONG LEASE PROFILE

INDUSTRIAL

4.59 GBP/ft2

OFFICE

16.44 GBP/ft2

RETAIL WAREHOUSE

16.00 GBP/ft2

40

Annualised rental income
30
20

15%
10%

10
0

7-8 Yrs

4%

4%

5%

Yr 9

Yr 10

Yr 11

3%

0%
Yr 12

GBP 22 million

12%

Yr 13

Yr 14

Yr 15

Yr 15+

13

Average forward asset yield

INDUSTRIAL

GBP 16.0 million

OFFICE

GBP 5.6 million

RETAIL WAREHOUSE

GBP 0.4 million

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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TOP ASSETS
BOOKER GROUP PLC

DHL SUPPLY CHAIN LIMITED

1

2

Location

Various, UK

Location

Runcorn, UK

No. of properties

30

No. of properties

1

Gross asset value

GBP 92.7m

Gross asset value

GBP 29.2m

GBP 7.4m pa

Net rental income

GBP 1.8m pa

Net rental income

Forward income yield 7.94%

Forward income yield 6.25%

Property type

Industrial

Property type

Distribution warehouse

Total GLA

1 746 074 sq ft (162 216 sq m)

Total GLA

635 656 sq ft (59 054 sq m)

Tenant

Booker Group PLC (LSE listed)

Tenant

Lease term expiry

2030 with tenant break option
in 2025

DHL Supply Chain Ltd,
wholly-owned subsidiary of
Deutsche Post DHL Group

Rental escalation

Every five years to greater
of 13.1% or Market Rent

Lease term expiry

December 2024

Rental escalations

GBP 2 048 485 or Market Rent

Next rent review

December 2019

Next rent review

February 2020

About the tenant

About the tenant

Booker Group Plc is the UK’s leading food wholesaler,
offering branded and private-label goods to independent
convenience stores, grocers, pubs, restaurants and hotels
and is listed on the London Stock Exchange. The Group
employs over 10 000 employees and services over
400 000 customers. The Group is currently subject to
a purchase offer from Tesco.

DHL Supply Chain is part of Deutsche Post AG, the
world’s largest logistics company operating express mail
services around the world, particularly sea and air mail.
DHL is present in over 220 countries across the globe.
With a workforce exceeding 325 000 employees they
provide solutions for an almost infinite number of
logistics needs.

HALFORDS LIMITED

3

4

Location

Newcastle, Tyneside, UK

Location

Redditch, Worcestershire, UK

No. of properties

1

No. of properties

1

Gross asset value

GBP 28.4m

Gross asset value

GBP 28.3m

Net rental income

GBP 2.1m pa

Net rental income

GBP 1.9m pa

Forward income yield 7.44%

Forward income yield 6.67%

Property type

Office

Property type

Total GLA

102 650 sq ft (9 536 sq m)

Distribution warehouse
with ancillary offices

Tenant

Santander Cards UK Limited

Total GLA

361 407 sq ft (33 576 sq m)

Lease term expiry

March 2028

Tenant

Halfords Limited

Rental escalations

Five-yearly to Rack Rental Value

Lease term expiry

March 2029

Next rent review

March 2018

Rental escalations

Five-yearly to Open Market Rent

Next rent review

March 2019

About the tenant
Santander Cards is a subsidiary of Banco Santander
which employed 194 000 people globally (2015) and
is one of the largest banks in the Eurozone by market
capitalisation. Santander Cards provides rewards cards,
store cards, credit cards and unsecured sales finance
products to the Santander Group. It is the UK’s biggest
operator of store cards, including Harrods, Debenhams
and Halfords.

About the tenant
Halfords Limited is part of Halfords Group Plc, a large British
retailer established in the early 1900’s. Its principal business
is supplying auto, leisure and cycling products operating in
the UK and Ireland. The Group employs over 12 000 staff
and has over 400 stores and 300 autocentres.

15

SANTANDER CARDS UK LIMITED

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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Top assets continued

LYNCHWOOD HOUSE

EPWIN GROUP PLC

5

6

Location

Peterborough, UK

Location

Various, UK

No. of properties

1

No. of properties

5

Gross asset value

GBP 23.0m

Gross asset value

GBP 17.8m

Net rental income

GBP 1.8m pa

Net rental income

GBP 1.3m pa

Forward income yield 7.6%

Forward income yield 7.47%

Property type

Office

Property type

Industrial warehouse

Total GLA

177 621 sq ft (16 501 sq m)

Total GLA

405 140 sq ft (37 638 sq m)

Tenants

• Thomas Cook Group UK Ltd,

Tenant

Specialist Building Products Ltd,
wholly-owned subsidiary of
Epwin Group Plc

Lease term expiry

October 2031

Rental escalations

Every five years to
Open Market Value

Next rent review

October 2021
(2016 rent review in progress)

subsidiary of Thomas Cook
Group Plc
• Bauer Consumer Media Limited
Lease term expiry

• May 2031
• March 2023

Rental escalations

• Five-yearly to market
• RPI subject to 1.5% – 4% Collar

and Cap
Next rent review

• May 2021
• March 2018

About the tenants
Thomas Cook Group UK Ltd is a subsidiary of Thomas
Cook Group Plc, one of the world’s leading leisure travel
groups with more than 20 million customers.
Thomas Cook Group Plc is a British global travel company
listed on the London Stock Exchange on the FTSE 250
Index. The Group is supported by c.22 000 employees
and operates from 15 countries. It is number one or two
in all its core markets. The Group owns a number of tour
operators, as well as charter airlines based in the United
Kingdom, Belgium and Scandinavia. Thomas Cook also
owns the scheduled airline Condor and booking
website Hotels4u.
Bauer Media is a division of Bauer Media Group, Europe’s
largest privately owned publishing Group. The Group is
a worldwide media empire with over 11 000 employees
worldwide offering 300 magazines in 19 countries, as well
as online, TV and radio stations.

About the tenant
Specialist Building Products Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary and the main trading entity of Epwin Group Plc,
one of the UK’s leading manufacturers of extrusions,
mouldings and fabricated low maintenance building
products. The Group employs over 2 000 employees.
Its principle activities include extrusion of PVC-U and
roofline products as well as the manufacture of windows,
doors, cladding, conservatories and sealed units.

E.ON UK LIMITED

7

8

Location

Chesterfield & Wetherby, UK

Location

Conventry, West Midlands, UK

No. of properties

2

No. of properties

1

Gross asset value

GBP 14.8m

Gross asset value

GBP 14.3m

Net rental income

GBP 0.9m pa

Net rental income

GBP 1.0m pa

Forward income yield 6.5%

Forward income yield 6.6%

Property type

Manufacturing & Distribution

Property type

Office

Total GLA

216 527 sq ft (20 116 sq m)

Total GLA

46 515 sq ft (4 321 sq m)

Tenant

Inspirepac Ltd, wholly-owned
subsidiary of Smurfit Kappa
Group Plc (LSE listed)

Lease term expiry

April 2023

Rental escalations

3% annually

Next rent review

April 2017

Lease term expiry

January 2027

Rental escalations

Every five years to RPI or Market
Rental Value

Next rent review

January 2022
(2017 rent review in progress)

About the tenant
Inspirepac Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smurfit
Kappa Group Plc (‘Smurfit’). Smurfit acquired Inspirepac
in May 2015. The Inspirepac Group consists of five
businesses located across four sites, and has over
260 employees. Inspirepac are market leaders in high
quality corrugated packaging solutions for national
and international customers and are a leading supplier
of flexography printing technology. Clients include
Walkers, Aldi, Howdens and Huggies Nappies.
Smurfit Kappa is one of the leading providers of
paper-based packaging solutions in the world.

About the tenant
E.ON is one of the world’s leading power and gas
companies generating and distributing electricity
and retailing power and gas. It operates in over
30 countries worldwide, serving 26 million customers
and employing over 40 000 employees. Previously listed
on the LSE but now owned by E.ON SE of Germany.
E.ON SE is one of the 30 members of the DAX index of
major German companies and a member of the Global
Titans 50 index.

17

INSPIREPAC LIMITED

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited

18

2017 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

Top assets continued

PALMER & HARVEY McLANE LIMITED

GESTAMP TALLENT LIMITED

9

10

Location

St. Helens, North West, UK

Location

Cannock, Staffordshire, UK

No. of properties

1

No. of properties

1

Gross asset value

GBP 11.2m

Gross asset value

GBP 10.0m

Net rental income

GBP 0.7m pa

Net rental income

GBP 0.8m pa

Forward income yield 6.14%

Forward income yield 7.97%

Property type

Manufacturing & Distribution

Property type

Manufacturing & Distribution

Total GLA

145 966 sq ft (13 561 sq m)

Total GLA

165 095 sq ft (15 338 sq m)

Tenant

Palmer & Harvey McLane Limited

Tenant

Lease term expiry

April 2032

Gestamp Tallent Ltd,
wholly-owned subsidiary
of Gestamp Group

Rental escalations

Five-yearly to Open Market Rent

Lease term expiry

Next rent review

April 2017

Three coterminous leases
expiring October 2025

Rental escalations

Every five years to
market rental value

Next rent review(s)

1) January 2015
(review outstanding)
2) December 2018
3) July 2019

About the tenant
Palmer & Harvey is the UK’s largest delivered wholesaler
of groceries, confectionery and tobacco and 5th largest
private company by turnover. The Group employs over
3 000 staff and serves over 90 000 customers with
12 000 product lines serving small independent retailers
to large multinational companies.

About the tenant
Gestamp Tallent Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Gestamp Group, a leading multinational that operates
in over 20 countries with over 32 000 employees.
Gestamp Tallent Ltd is a leading developer of chassis
and suspension products and systems for the global
automotive industry. Clients include Land Rover, BMW,
Ford and Honda.
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OPERATING CONTEXT

UK
property
market
UK

industrial
sector
continues to
be the

standout
performer

In 2016 the

annual return on
UK commercial
property
was c. 2.7%
which included capital growth
of -2.4% (skewed by
underperforming office)

Challenging 2016 for UK property with both an unexpected

increase in stamp duty to 5.0%
(from 4.0%) and the impact of Brexit

Despite low returns, Q4 recorded

positive income and capital growth
as well as higher investment inflows signalling a
possible recovery

The Investment Property Forum (IPF) UK Consensus
(institutional investors and property advisers)

forecasts total return of c. 5.8%
between 2016 and 2018 for industrial property

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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and is expected
to remain resilient

Post-Brexit uncertainty and
supportive investment fundamentals
create opportunities

1

Office
Strong leasing activity in regions including Manchester,
Cardiff, Bristol and Glasgow, mainly driven by large
pre-lets and high local market churn.
Acute shortage of Grade A space evident, curbing occupier
choice and driving the pre-let market and rental growth.
Speculative construction improving though a number of
schemes delayed post Brexit. Government to expand
regional hub focus.
Institutional investment remains cautious,
overseas money still flowing though lack
of supply may dampen levels.

2

Industrial

Property
sector
update

UK Industrial sector remains robust, and
underlying fundamentals remain positive despite
the wider economic and political uncertainty
generated by Brexit.
Occupier demand for new space is high.
Devaluation of Sterling has stimulated UK
manufacturing, whereas distribution continues to
be driven by operational reorganisation by retailers.

LEASE LENGTH TRENDS BY SECTOR

ROLLING ANNUAL TRANSACTION YIELDS AND GILTS (%)
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Other

Q2

3

Retail warehouse
Recent months
have shown UK
consumers to be
unmoved by the
prospect of
Brexit – retail
spending
expected to
remain robust.

Investor base
for retail
warehousing is
broadening,
driven not only
by rising yields,
but an increasing
acceptance that
the occupational
market is
generally strong.

Tenant demand,
particularly from
the bulky goods
sector, remains
strong.

Second half of
2016 saw a
number of
significant new
entrants, and
existing players
in the value and
bulky goods
segments remain
expansionary.

Our chosen target market continues to
offer a favourable operating environment
•

•

•

•

A reasonably stable economic
environment and a property
market in the UK which remains
robust despite Brexit uncertainties
Property yields have compressed
but are still supported by forecast
rental growth
Property offering relative value
with average yields still 400 basis
points above gilt yields
A low interest rate environment

Key
risks

•

Asset management opportunities
on existing portfolio being
explored to extract full value:
– Strategic sales of smaller
assets acquired as parts of
portfolios;
– Enhancement through
expansion and redevelopment;
– Lease and leasehold
re-gearing; and
– Rent reviews.

Atlantic Leaf has to deal with a variety of
risks in the normal course of business, and
aims to minimise adverse effects, while
continually identifying opportunities to
maximise value for shareholders.

For details
regarding how
we deal with
these risks,
refer to the
risk report on
pages 46 – 49.

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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I am very pleased to report that Atlantic Leaf Properties grew its portfolio of
industrial and office properties by 51% in the year under review and the Company’s
assets under management now exceed GBP 300 million. This growth has enabled
the Company to reach the critical mass necessary to be recognized as a significant
property company with listings on the Main Board of the JSE and the SEM.
The Company’s move to the Main Board of the JSE during the year will enable it to
reach a broader investor base and improve the tradability of the Company’s shares.

PETER BACON

Whilst Brexit has created a degree of uncertainty in the United Kingdom
commercial property market, and has had a negative impact on the valuations
of certain property companies with exposure to that market, the fundamentals
remain sound. The Company has been successful in concluding several
strategic acquisitions that met its investment criteria in the year under review.
The acquisitions of the DHL distribution centre in Runcorn and the Thomas
Cook/Bauer offices in Peterborough added to the quality of the Company’s
portfolio of well-located assets in regional nodes with strong tenant covenants.
We will from time to time dispose of certain assets in order to re-balance the
portfolio and improve the returns to shareholders as was the case in the year
under review with the disposal of the Wombourne property. The Company will
also seek to implement asset management opportunities where there is scope
to add value through the optimisation of returns from the portfolio.
The management teams supporting the Company in Mauritius and on the
ground in the United Kingdom are very focused on the continued sustainable
growth of the Company through the pursuit of attractive opportunities. I remain
confident that the Company will achieve, if not exceed, its medium-term target
of GBP 500 million of assets under management by its fifth anniversary
without compromising on location, quality, tenant covenant and yield: the four
pillars on which the Company has built its well diversified portfolio to date.
The Board meets in Mauritius on a regular basis, and with assistance from its
sub-committees, continues to oversee the implementation of the Company’s
strategic focus on full compliance with the listing requirements of the JSE and
SEM, and the corporate governance principles in King III and the Mauritius
Code of Corporate Governance.
The Company has built a strong foundation and will continue to focus on
growth opportunities in the United Kingdom commercial property market that
will deliver attractive sterling returns to the Company’s shareholders. Interest
rates remain low and the Brexit uncertainty has been priced in.
I would like to thank Yan Ng, who resigned from the Board during the year,
for his contribution and guidance throughout the formative stages of the
establishment of the Company. My thanks and appreciation also to the
directors of the Company and management who have put in a considerable
amount of hard work to achieve the significant growth and development of the
Company in the first three years.
We will strive to deliver superior returns in an established market and take full
advantage of the opportunities that exist to grow the Company’s assets under
management together with shareholder returns.

Peter Bacon
Chairman
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THE COMPANY
HAS BEEN
SUCCESSFUL IN
CONCLUDING
SEVERAL
STRATEGIC
ACQUISITIONS
THAT MET ITS
INVESTMENT
CRITERIA IN THE
YEAR UNDER
REVIEW.

REPORT FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

We have added further scale and diversification to our portfolio, have utilised the
opportunity to restructure some of our investments at attractive yields and have positioned
the company strongly in terms of its investor base, infrastructure and governance. We are
delighted that we have met our objective for asset growth for 2017 which was to grow
assets under management to GBP 300 million. At year end the value of our investment
properties was GBP 304 million, following a considered and selective approach to
investment. More importantly our asset base now underpins our earnings for the next few
years and together with rental uplift and asset management activities should see us being
able to provide real growth in earnings. We will need to raise capital to support our growth
targets while ensuring that the capital is actively deployed as soon as possible after it is
raised, to avoid any cash drag on the income statement. We are fast developing a track
record of delivery being able to execute timeously on transactions and this is aiding our
reputation among industry participants and assisting in the attraction of new opportunities.

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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We are pleased with the progress made in 2017 financial year towards our vision
of growing Atlantic Leaf as a competitive property investment company.

PAUL LEAF-WRIGHT

STRATEGY
Atlantic Leaf’s strategy is to invest in quality real estate assets that deliver
attractive returns through both income and capital growth. Our primary
objective remains the acquisition of properties in good locations and with
stable income profiles from long-term leases with well-regarded and credit
worthy tenants. We invest directly into industrial and office space and are
currently focused on regional nodes in the United Kingdom (UK), using
a mixture of equity and debt funding for acquisitions. Our strategy of investing
in attractive regional industrial property has yielded good results to date.

Grow the
company

Maintain
high
standards
• governance and
compliance

The key strategic
objectives for
Atlantic Leaf
have not
changed

Deliver
performance

• operational
effectiveness

We remain comfortable with a focus on the UK industrial property market and
will continue to diversify across geographic sectors. We are defensively
positioned against the prevailing uncertainty around Brexit, given our long-term
lease profile, zero vacancies, quality tenants and high cash generation. Our debt
has been hedged against interest rate risk for the next three years and we are
well within our debt covenants.
Most of our properties are in the industrial sector, which has been a strong
performing sector in the UK and looks set to remain robust for the foreseeable
future. We believe that we are well placed for growth over the next three years –
the favourable interest rate environment and attractive initial yields in these
regions continue to present a strong commercial rationale for exploring
opportunities. Investor inflows remain strong, and from a rand perspective
the depreciation of the Sterling has increased our purchasing power.
The UK property market remains very competitive and our collective networks
enable us to secure predominantly off-market transactions and to source a
healthy pipeline of prospects. As the portfolio grows, so too does our
understanding of the various sectors, our credibility in the market place and our
exposure to new sectors and opportunities. We foresee that opportunities in the
UK will more than adequately fill our growth aspirations for the medium term.
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THE COMPANY
HAS ESTABLISHED
A SOLID ASSET
BASE WHICH
UNDERPINS
EARNINGS FOR
THE NEXT FEW
YEARS.
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Report from the Chief Executive continued

Lynchwood House, Peterborough

KEY DEVELOPMENTS DURING THE
2017 FINANCIAL YEAR

During March 2016 the acquisition of
Palmer and Harvey McLane, Booker
Cash and Carry, Halfords and E.ON UK
were completed.
Atlantic Leaf raised GBP 19.9 million
in the 2017 financial year, which was
utilised towards the acquisition of the
following properties:
•

•

A distribution warehouse at Aston
Lane North, Preston Brook,
Runcorn, United Kingdom for
GBP 29.2 million, at a net initial
yield of 6.2%, was acquired in
November 2016. Preston Brook,
Runcorn, is a well-established UK
distribution location, strategically
situated between Manchester and
Liverpool. The property is fully let,
with a lease expiry of just under
8 years, to DHL Supply Chain
Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange listed, Deutsche Post
AG Group.
An office property based in
the Peterborough Business Park,
Peterborough, East Midlands,
United Kingdom for
GBP 22.9 million, at net property
yield of 7.6% was acquired in
January 2017. Peterborough is one
of the United Kingdom’s fastest
growing cities. The property is
fully let to Thomas Cook Group UK
Limited, a subsidiary of Thomas
Cook Group Plc (a global travel
company listed on the London
Stock Exchange and a constituent
of the FTSE 250), and Bauer
Consumer Media Limited, a
subsidiary of H Bauer Publishing
(Europe’s largest privately owned
publishing group). The weighted
lease expiry is 11.6 years.

Atlantic Leaf also concluded the
disposal of an industrial warehouse
located in Wombourne for
GBP 11.3 million during the year.
We identified an opportunity to realise
an attractive sale price, with an exit
internal rate of return of more than
30% (after transaction related costs),

on the initial equity investment. The
proceeds were used to settle debt
and make further acquisitions.

Diversification of the
shareholder base
Atlantic Leaf has made pleasing
progress in the past year in our efforts
to broaden the investor base.
The transfer of Atlantic Leaf’s listing
from the AltX to the Main Board of
the JSE was an important step in
the process. We have substantially
increased the number of Atlantic Leaf
shareholders and the average number
of shares traded per day has grown,
albeit from a low base. Despite this
improvement, there is still progress to
be made in achieving sufficient share
liquidity. We acknowledge that this is
a process and we are continuously
working to improve the marketability
of the company and its shares.

Oversight and
operational
improvements
A significant amount of effort has
gone into the development and
strengthening of the Group wide risk
matrix and financial reporting systems.
Operational efficiencies were a strong
focus and we have implemented a
variety of changes which will
positively influence the operations
of the business going forward.
Atlantic Leaf’s cost to income ratio
and total expense ratio remains
competitive despite the addition
of resources to support the growth
in the business.

Asset management
opportunities
We continue to seek expansion and
redevelopment opportunities on our
existing properties. While zero
vacancies and long-term leases are
strongly beneficial for sustainable
income and cashflow profiles, we
have nevertheless identified a range
of potential asset management
opportunities that we expect may add
further value to our portfolio.

Realise value through
strategic investment
activities
• Opportunities with key market
players
• Asset management opportunities
on existing portfolio
• Realisation of value through
smaller assets sales

Enhanced cash on cash
returns by utilising
capital allowance
benefits
• Management exploring
availability of capital
allowances across the portfolio
• ‘Capital allowance’ is a UK
concept effectively
representing tax depreciation
• Expected to produce deductible
allowances resulting in a lower
tax charge

Lease re-gearing and
redevelopment
opportunities
• Focus on shorter income
re-gears (Robert McBride,
St Helens; DHL, Runcorn;
E.ON, Coventry)
• Inspirepac, Chesterfield:
discussions underway for
possible extension on
unutilised land
• Booker, Hull: opportunity to
surrender the lease and extract
value through re-letting/
re-development

27

Capital raisings,
acquisitions and
disposals
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Report from the Chief Executive continued

DIVIDEND

OUTLOOK

Atlantic Leaf declared an interim
dividend of GBP 4.2 pence per share
in October 2016 and a final dividend
GBP 4.3 pence per share for the
second half of the financial year,
bringing the total distribution for the
year to GBP 8.5 pence per share,
which represents a 21% increase
on the distribution in 2016. We have
forecast a distribution for 2017/18
of GBP 9.0 pence per share which
demonstrates the underlying strength
of our portfolio and the continued
growth in earnings we seek to achieve.

Atlantic Leaf has a strong asset base of
income-producing assets from which to
grow the company and the current
positioning of the portfolio and our
funding will ensure solid distribution
growth. Rental reviews supplemented
by asset management opportunities are
expected to support our earnings
growth targets of between 5% – 7%,
which are positive when measured
against inflation in the UK of around
2% per annum.

Given the nature of its business,
Atlantic Leaf uses distribution per share
as its financial measure for trading
statement purposes. Atlantic Leaf
usually distributes greater than 90%
of its adjusted headline earnings.

OPPORTUNITIES
UNDER
CONSIDERATION
Management continuously assesses
opportunities to further scale and
diversify Atlantic Leaf’s property
portfolio. A mixture of portfolio and
individual assets which meet
investment objectives are considered.
Strategic alliances have the potential
to allow us to participate in larger
transactions and to build new
relationships with other similar
property owners particularly in the UK.
We are confident that there are good
pipeline opportunities to meet our
growth targets.
Any capital raising to fund acquisitions
will only be executed against appropriate,
well considered opportunities and we
would not seek to raise capital surplus
to what could be actively deployed into
the property market.

Management is also active in extracting
additional value from our current
portfolio and there are a number of
specific acquisition opportunities under
consideration that meet our criteria in
terms of asset quality, location,
covenant and yield.
We are pleased with what we have
been able to accomplish in the short
three years that we have been in
existence and look forward to the
opportunities the next financial year
will bring.

On the migration of its listing to the
Main Board of the JSE, the Group
forecast earnings of GBP 8.9 pence per
share for the 2017/18 financial year
based on a static balance sheet which
assumed no new purchases or
disposals of assets. Taking into account
transactions completed after migrating
to the Main Board of the JSE, the
forecast has been revised to
GBP 9.0 pence per share for the
2017/18 financial year on a static basis.
The forecast is based on the current
leases and the existing debt structure,
including the portion of interest that
has been fixed. We remain of the view
that the forecast is achievable in the
year ahead which would see further
growth of at least 6% in our
distribution for the 2017/18 year.
This forecast has not been reviewed or
reported on by the Company’s auditor.

APPRECIATION
In closing, I would like to thank all our board members for their
contribution and support during the year. Furthermore, we thank all
stakeholders, including our appointed property managers, Orbit, as
well as our banks and legal advisors for their support during the year.
Success is not possible without the hard work and dedication of our
management team and employees and I express my gratitude for
their continued energy and loyalty.

Paul Leaf-Wright
CEO
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
INDICATIVE 12 MONTHS’
FORWARD YIELD ON AUM

7.3%
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

REVENUE

GBP 21 328 910

ADJUSTED HEADLINE
EARNINGS PER SHARE

FEBRUARY 2016: GBP 9 173 296

9.0 pence

AVERAGE ASSETS UNDER
MANAGEMENT FOR THE YEAR

FEBRUARY 2016: 7.19 pence

GBP 274.4 million

DISTRIBUTION PER SHARE

FEBRUARY 2016: GBP 114.7 million

8.5 pence

FEBRUARY 2016: 7.0 pence

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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FEBRUARY 2016: 7.5%

Property
cost-toincome1

1%

Total property
management
expense ratio2

0.31%
FEBRUARY 2016: 0.45%

FEBRUARY 2016:
1.1%

Total operating
expense ratio2

0.74%

Total
cost-toincome1

FEBRUARY 2016: 0.88%

13%
FEBRUARY 2016:
14.3%

Total expense
ratio2

1.06%
FEBRUARY 2016: 1.32%

1
2

Head rents netted off against rental revenue
Based on average assets under management over
the year

New equity raised

GBP 19.9 million
FEBRUARY 2016: GBP 98.5

Market
capitalisation

52%
FEBRUARY 2016: 39%

% of fixed rate
interest bearing debt

74%
FEBRUARY 2016: 63%

Weighted average
cost of funding at
year end

R2 414

GBP 157

FEBRUARY 2016: R3 207 million

FEBRUARY 2016: GBP 138 million

million

million

Share price (ZAR)

Share price (GBP)

16.92

1.10

FEBRUARY 2016: 25.99

FEBRUARY 2016: 1.12

GBP/ZAR
exchange rate

16.26
FEBRUARY 2016: 22.08

3.2%
FEBRUARY 2016: 3.2%

Weighted average
debt maturity

Number of shareholders

2.9 years

324

FEBRUARY 2016: 3.4 years

E.ON, Coventry

FEBRUARY 2016: 216

Weighted average
number of shares
in issue

No of shares
in issue at
reporting date

129 548 965

142 671 209

FEBRUARY 2016: 62 491 061

FEBRUARY 2016: 123 407 090
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Gearing (LTV)

Market
capitalisation

Financial overview continued

EARNINGS
The weighted average adjusted headline earnings per share
for the period is GBP 9.0 pence per share, an increase of
25% over the previous year and in line with management’s
expectations. Total income earned from properties has
increased by 136% to GBP 20 million (2016: GBP 8.5 million)
for the full year. A summary of earnings is outlined in the
table below:
Feb 2017

Feb 2016

Net rental income

20.0

8.5

Property Operating expenses

(0.9)

(0.5)

Net operating expenses

(1.5)

(0.5)

Finance costs

(4.5)

(2.5)

Tax Expense

(1.5)

(0.5)

Adjusted earnings/
Distributable earnings

11.6

4.5

Fair value movement on
investment property

(3.1)

2.2

Net profit on disposal of
investment property

0.9

–

(0.4)

(1.0)

–

(0.3)

9.1

5.4

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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GBP’m

Once-off transaction costs
Foreign exchange loss on
equity raised

REPORTED PROFIT

DIVIDENDS
Following the interim distribution paid to shareholders of
GBP 4.2 pence per share, Atlantic Leaf announced a final
dividend of GBP 4.3 pence per share for the year ended
28 February 2017 bringing the annual distribution to
GBP 8.5 pence per share, an increase of 21% over the 2016
distribution of GBP 7 pence per share. This distribution is
in line with the forecast given at the time of migrating the
listing of Atlantic Leaf to the Main Board of the JSE.

In line with the accounting policy of the Group, the portfolio
is valued by independent valuers at least once every 3 years.
These valuations are undertaken in accordance with the
appropriate sections of the current Practice Statements
contained in the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
Valuations – Professional Standards (Red Book). The
valuations of all of the investment properties are reviewed
by management on a quarterly basis, taking into account
market forces such as yield movement, occupier and
investor sentiment, supply and demand as well as other
valuation principles to establish whether there is likely to be
a material difference in asset value. The reviews are carried
out and presented to the Board for approval. An external
desktop valuation, in accordance with Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) standards, is carried out
every 12 months.
As per IFRS, acquisition costs are capitalised to the property
on acquisition. During the year, the Company incurred
capitalised costs of GBP 6.5 million in its portfolio, the
largest component of which is stamp duty on direct property
acquisitions, calculated at 5% of the purchase price. IFRS
requires investment properties to be held at fair value which
is defined as the net price at which the properties can be
sold. Given the short period that we have held many
properties and as the market has not appreciated significantly,
values have not increased sufficiently to absorb all acquisition
costs. Accordingly, accounting for investment properties at
fair value at year end has resulted in a net downward
revaluation of GBP 3.1 million. Importantly Atlantic Leaf
directors remain satisfied that the investment case on which
asset acquisitions were based are still valid and that the assets
continue to perform in line with or better than expected.
Management are of the opinion that the NAV is more
accurately reflected with the costs of acquisition being
amortised over the period of the existing lease that was
purchased with the property. The Company’s adjusted
NAVPS was GBP 1.09, after allowing for this adjustment,
excluding the effect of mark-to-market valuations on interest
rate swaps on the cash flow hedge reserve and the
proposed final distribution of GBP 4.3 pence per share.
GBP’m

Feb 2017

Feb 2016

303.1

195.3

12.7

6.2

156.6

75.3

2.0

1.8

DISTRIBUTION PROFILE
Investment properties

2017

4.2p

4.3p

8.5p

Cash
Interest bearing debt
Fair value of derivatives

2016

Interim

3.0p

4.0p

7.0p

Final

Other net assets/(liabilities)

(2.4)

11.6

154.8

136.0

Add: Acquisition costs
to be amortised

5.3

–

Add: MTM of cash flow hedges

1.9

1.8

162.0

137.8

£1.14

£1.12

£0.043

£0.04

£1.09

£1.08

Net assets1

Adjusted net assets

PROPERTY VALUATION
The Company has grown its portfolio of industrial and office
properties across the United Kingdom by 51% over the past
year to GBP 304 million. Acquisitions during the period
totalled GBP 121 million and the Company disposed of one
property in Wombourne for GBP 11.3 million.

2

Adjusted NAV per share
Final dividend
Adjusted NAV per share ex Div
1
2

Per annual financial statements
This has been prepared for illustrative purposes only, is not in line
with the requirements of IFRS, and that because of its nature, it
may not fairly present the issuer’s financial position, changes in
equity, results of operations or cash flows

CAPITAL RAISING ACTIVITIES
During the year under review, the Company issued 19 million
new shares, raising GBP 19.9 million in new equity capital.
The equity raised was fully deployed into income producing
assets. Shares issued during the year were as follows:
Date
16 May 2016
9 November 2016

Number
of shares

Price

Capital raised
net of costs

475 724

£1.08

£513 782

18 788 395

£1.07

£19 404 696

DEBT AND HEDGING

The Group does not take speculative positions on interest
rate contracts and will enter into interest rate hedges for a
portion of its debt. At year end the fair value of the financial
instruments were GBP 1.9 million out of the money. Our
swap levels at any time are market dependent, and will
increase and decrease per transaction, based on the swap
rates at the time. The debt maturity profile has decreased as
a result of the passage of time however it is the intention to
extend this maturity profile when new assets are acquired
and by restructuring existing debt.

LOAN TO VALUE RATIO
(%)

INTEREST COVER RATIO

COST OF DEBT
(%)

60

4.5

3.5

52

50
40

4.0

3.2

DEBT MATURITY PROFILE (MILLION)
50
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6

3
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Qtr 1

2018

Qtr 2

Qtr 1

39

3.0
2.5

2.6

3.5

3.0

3.0

2.5

2.5

2.0

2.0

1.5

1.5

1.0

1.0

1.5

0.5

0.5

0.5
Feb 2016

Feb 2017

0

Qtr 4
2021

DEBT HEDGED
(%)

3.4

80

2.9

70

74
63

60
50

30
20

1.0

10

Qtr 4

40

2.0

20

Qtr 3
2020

2019

DEBT MATURITY
(Years)
3.2

16

13

10

3.5

30

0

4.0

DHL, Runcorn
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Atlantic Leaf has a target loan to value ratio of 50% and
given the long-term nature of the leases it has in place,
management is comfortable with the LTV level combined
with the benefit of the relatively low overall cost of debt.
Atlantic Leaf’s asset yield of 7.3% compares very favourably
with the weighted average cost of debt of 3.2% at year end,
and provides good headroom between our interest
obligations and our revenue line.

Feb 2016

Feb 2017

0

Feb 2016

Feb 2017

0

10
Feb 2016

Feb 2017

0

Feb 2016

Feb 2017

ACCOUNTABILITY

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
CAPITAL
SEM

Property Portfolio

Primary Listing

Wholly-owned
subsidiaries
JSE
Primary Listing
South
Africa
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Mauritius

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited

ATLANTIC LEAF
PROPERTIES
Incorporated in Mauritius
GBCL1 Company

DEBT
PROVIDERS

Board of
directors
Risk Committee
Audit Committee

The Board is responsible for the overall strategic
direction of Atlantic Leaf and for ensuring a robust
operational and control framework is in place for efficient
and effective performance. The success of the Board is
underpinned by the support of:
•

underlying sub-committees that have been established with clearly
defined roles and responsibilities. The sub-committees provide targeted
support with regards to the Company’s investment strategy, identifying
and mitigating risks whilst promoting strong governance and compliance,
overseeing the external audit function and system of internal controls,
and the remuneration of directors and staff as applicable.

Investment Committee
Remuneration
Committee

•

Martial Eagle in its capacity as the
Company’s external management
company. Martial Eagle provides a
number of vital support and advisory
services to the Board.

KEY SERVICE
PROVIDERS

Refer to
note 28 on
pages 98 – 99
in the Annual
Financial
Statements for
more detail on
related parties.

Martial Eagle
• Strategic support
• Asset management and investment advisory

Martial Eagle’s management role
and its provision of support and advisory
services are covered under the Property
Services Agreement (‘PSA’) with Atlantic
Leaf. Martial Eagle’s role and
responsibilities primarily include:
•

Strategic Support Services which include
developing and maintaining shareholder
relationships, assisting the Company in raising
capital from investors and third party financiers,
and Board support.

•

Property Portfolio Management Services
which include investment identification and
assistance with the execution of selected
transactions, managing the property portfolio to
maximise returns, and oversight of the Property
Manager.

•

Operational Management Services
including general financial and accounting
responsibilities, in particular how they relate to
internal and external reporting to regulators and
shareholders, and assistance with the
Company’s risk and compliance frameworks.

Intercontinental Trust
• Company secretarial
• Administration
• Regulatory compliance

Orbit Property Management
• Leading UK-based commercial
property managers
• Manages Atlantic Leaf’s entire portfolio

Martial Eagle has offices in both Mauritius and the
United Kingdom, providing Atlantic Leaf with a
broad base of global experience and a valuable
presence in each jurisdiction.
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• Operational management

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

1 PETER BACON (70)

3 WARREN MORTON (47)

3

Independent
Non-Executive Chairman

Financial Director

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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National Diploma in Hotel Keeping
and Catering;
Stanford Executive Programme
Date of appointment: 8 July 2014
Other listed company directorships: 2
Peter was appointed independent
non-executive director and Chairman of
Atlantic Leaf from 8 July 2014. Peter has
over 37 years’ experience in the
hospitality, resorts and gaming industry.
He is currently a non-executive director of
Sun International Holdings and previously
served as an executive director of Sun
International’s board from 1994 and as
the group’s Chief Executive from 1994
until 2006. Peter also serves as a director
of Woolworths Holdings Limited. In
addition, he previously served as
Chairman of each of the National Sea
Rescue Institute (until August 2014),
Cape Town Routes Unlimited and the
Tourism Grading Council Awards
Committee.

2 PAUL LEAF-WRIGHT (55)

3

3

B Compt; B Compt Hons;
MCom Taxation; CA(SA)
Date of appointment: 21 February 2014
Warren qualified as a Chartered
Accountant in 1997. He holds a Bachelor
of Commerce degree with Honours in
Accountancy from the University of South
Africa. Warren also completed a Master
of Commerce degree in Taxation from
the University of the Witwatersrand in
2007. Warren completed his Articles in
1993. He has over 22 years of working
experience of which most has been in
the Financial Services Industry with
significant experience in Investment
Banking as well as Fund Management
and Administration. His roles have,
amongst other senior positions included
Chief Operating Officer of RMB’s
Investment Banking Division, as well as
Group Financial Director at Oryx
Investment Management and Equinox.
Group Financial Director at Oryx
Investment Management and Equinox.

4 LAURENCE RAPP (46)

1

2

2

Chief Executive Officer

Non-Executive Director

BCom; CA(SA)
Date of appointment: 11 November 2013

(Vukile is a major shareholder of
Atlantic Leaf)
BCom (Hons),
Wharton Executive Programme
Date of appointment: 12 October 2015
Other listed company directorships: 1

3

Laurence is currently the CEO of Vukile
Property Fund Limited, one of South
Africa’s largest listed REITs and chairman
of the SA REIT Association. He has
significant property experience and has
led Vukile through various corporate
activities, including the acquisition of
Synergy Income Fund. In addition to his
wealth of property experience Laurence
has extensive experience in financial
services environment, spanning
investment banking, private equity, retail
banking, and insurance and asset
management. He was previously a
director of Standard Bank, as head of the
Insurance and Asset management
divisions, and previously in charge of the
Strategic Investments and Alliances
division.

4

Paul has over 27 years of property and
financial services experience. He
established Leaf Capital in 2004, together
with Jacqui Hathorn. Paul completed his
articles and qualified as a Chartered
Accountant at Deloitte and Touche in
1986. He subsequently held various roles
in NBS Bank and BoE (subsequently
Nedbank Ltd) which included financial and
strategy director, head of treasury,
director of property and asset finance,
and head of wealth management. During
his years in the banking sector his roles
included running the bank’s private equity
division, co-ordinating mergers and
acquisitions of both bank and third party
deals, establishment of BEE companies
and funding of a wide range of projects.
Paul has also served on the boards of a
number of listed companies.

Years of service
Chairman
Executive directors
Non-executive directors

7 KESAVEN MOOTHOOSAMY (34)

2

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Date of appointment: 19 November 2014

5

6

After graduating in 2005 with a distinction
in Veterinary Medicine, Cleo spent 3 years
in private small animal practice as a
Veterinary Surgeon with an active role in
the business management. Since joining
Folkes Holdings Ltd in 2009 Cleo has
quickly risen up the ranks from Business
Development to Director of Operations to
her current position as Deputy Chairman.
She holds active positions on the boards
of all the Folkes Holding Group
companies; both engineering and property
and additionally holds a Directorship and
alternate Directorship on the boards of
two private South African property funds.
Cleo also actively participates in the
Young Investors Organisation which is a
global network of next generation leaders.

6 NICHOLAS WINEARLS (64)

3

Independent
Non-Executive Director
Date of appointment: 8 July 2014

7

8

3

Cape Town born Nick Winearls started his
professional career in 1975 at The Board
of Executors (later rebranded as BoE) in
Cape Town, with responsibility for the
structuring of the affairs of high net
worth clients both domestically and
internationally. In 1987, he emigrated with
his family to the Isle of Man to join
accountants Touche Ross and Co in their
newly established Offshore Department
dealing extensively with IPO’s. In 1999,
he re-joined BoE to establish and head up
their international trust company in the
Isle of Man. In 2009, he moved to
Monaco following his appointment as a
Director of independent trust company
Landmark Management SAM, where, in
addition to his executive responsibilities,
he manages a portfolio of globally based
structures for clients.

BSc, FCCA
Date of appointment: 11 November 2013
Other listed company directorships: 2
Kesaven has been appointed as Executive
Director of Perigeum Capital in July 2016.
He was until June 2016, a Senior Manager
in the Capital Markets Advisory team of
Intercontinental Trust Ltd. For the past
11 years, in the Mauritius financial services
industry, he has acquired experience
ranging from fund formation and
administration, fund accounting, Mauritius
regulatory matters, investment structuring,
transaction advisory to capital raising and
listing on Securities Exchanges. He is
actively involved on various initiatives to
enhance the attractiveness of the SEM.
He is also a board member of SEM listed
companies and a number of funds
established in Mauritius.
He graduated from the University of
Mauritius with a B.Sc (Hons) in Accounting
with Information System. Kesaven recently
completed his MBA in Leadership and
Innovation. He is also a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants UK (FCCA), a member of
the Mauritius Institute of Professional
Accountants (MIPA) and Member of the
Mauritius Institute of Directors. (MiOD).

8 RUDOLF PRETORIUS (55)

1

Independent
Non-Executive Director
BCom Acc
Date of appointment: 11 April 2016
Other listed company directorships: 1
After qualifying as a chartered accountant
in South Africa in the mid 1980’s, Rudolf
spent twelve years with Rand Merchant
Bank and the FirstRand banking group,
before founding Treacle Private Equity
(Pty) Ltd in 2000. Treacle raised and
managed two successful general South
Africa focused private equity funds
between 2000 and 2015. Rudolf is
currently resident in Mauritius where he
is a director of Adansonia Holdings, and
serves on the boards of various investee
companies spanning the information
technology and financial services
industries in Mauritius, sub-Saharan Africa
and the USA. He also acts as independent
non-executive director (and investment
committee member) for a number of USA
and South African based private equity
funds that principally invest in Africa.
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5 CLEOPATRA FOLKES (35)

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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BOARD STRUCTURE

ectors
e dir

The Board confirms that at the date of
this report the Company has applied the
recommendations of King III in all
material respects.

u t iv

The Board is committed to the
promotion of good governance which is
a fundamental principle underlying the
organisation’s decisions and actions,
and to following the principles of
fairness, accountability, responsibility
and transparency as advocated in the
King Code of Governance principles
(“King III”). In so doing it aims to ensure
that the Company is, and is seen to be,
a responsible corporate citizen.

c
xe
2E

Atlantic Leaf was listed on the SEM on
25 March 2014 and on the JSE AltX on
3 April 2014. Atlantic Leaf’s listing was
transferred from the JSE’s AltX to the
JSE’s Main Board with effect from
7 November 2016.

A register of King III principles and how the Company
applied these principles and recommendations is available
on the Company’s website.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the
Company and for preparing a robust control framework. Such a
framework establishes the policies, guidelines and benchmarks for a
system of internal controls including the monitoring and reviewing of
reporting presented to the Board and its sub-committees and
delegation of authority through an approval framework. The Board
meets at least four times a year to review the performance of the
Company and take strategic decisions. The roles of CEO and Chairman
are clearly separated to ensure balance of power and authority.
The directors hold a diverse range of skills and business experience
in property, finance and corporate governance, which will ensure
sustained growth and successful operations in the long term. These
factors are considered and assessed as part of the Board’s annual
evaluation of its members, sub-committees and its own function.
The Board also annually evaluates both the Chairperson and CEO’s
performance and ability to add value to the Company.
The evaluations for 2017 are being finalised and will be discussed
at the next Board meeting.

COMPOSITION OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1 yr = 1

2 yrs = 2

Atlantic Leaf reviews the composition of the Board to
determine if the appropriate skills and experience are
available and to improve the structures that are in
place. The Board composition has remained the same
with the exception of Mr Yan Ng’s resignation in
October 2016.

2
2
4
Non-independent Executive
Independent directors
directors
directors

BOARD
INDEPENDENCE

APPOINTMENT OF
DIRECTORS
The Board oversees and approves the appointment
of new directors. Such appointments are formal and
transparent and the selection process is conducted
in accordance with the guidelines set out for
appointments in the Board Charter which, inter alia,
ensures that the Board has the right balance of
experience, skills and competencies to be able to
lead the Company and its business activities in line
with the principles of the King Code and to achieve
its governance outcomes over time.

LENGTH OF
TENURE

1
Female director

7
Male directors

GENDER
SPLIT
Profiles of
the Board
members
can be
found on
pages 36 – 37.
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The number of Board members is commensurate
with the size of the Company. Its membership
currently comprises two executive directors and six
non-executive directors, of whom four are considered
independent, including the Chairman. Nicholas
Winearls also serves as a common director on two
of the Company’s subsidiaries, ALP Guernsey Limited
and ALF Guernsey Limited. The constitution of the
Board ensures that there is an appropriate balance of
power and authority within the Board such that no one
individual or block of individuals dominates the Board’s
decision-making. In addition, the Board’s charter
provides for directors to take independent professional
advice where necessary and at the Company’s
expense, to ensure they are in the best position to
carry out their duties and responsibilities. All directors
also have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary.

3 yrs = 5

GENDER DIVERSITY
Atlantic Leaf is committed to ensuring ethical
standards apply in all areas of business, with a focus
on equal opportunities. The Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
membership, and during the year implemented a
formal gender diversity policy to support this aim.
To realise the benefits of a varied membership the
Board reviews and assesses its composition on an
ongoing basis and when appointing new directors.
All Board appointments are made on merit and with
due regard for the optimal functioning of the Board,
which relies on diverse membership and a prejudicefree environment.
The Board currently comprises one female and seven
males. The Board is comfortable that the current
members are the most appropriate for their roles
regardless of gender, however Atlantic Leaf’s future
director appointments will be considered with due
emphasis on the benefits of its gender diversity policy.

Corporate Governance continued

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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The Board is assisted in the performance of its
duties by four sub-committees: an Audit Committee,
Risk Committee, Remuneration Committee and an
Investment Committee. During the year, the Audit
and Risk Committee was separated into the Audit
Committee and the Risk Committee to allow sufficient
time and resources to be allocated to these functions
to further enhance the Company’s governance
structure. In addition, the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee’s role was changed during the
year with the functions of the Nomination Committee
being assumed by the Board. All four sub-committees
have formal charters outlining their roles and
responsibilities, and the charters are reviewed and
approved by the Board annually.
The Board is conscious of the fact that such
delegation of duties is not an abdication of the Board
members’ responsibilities. Full transparency and
disclosure of committee deliberations is encouraged
and the chair of each committee provides feedback at
each Board meeting summarising the committee’s
discussions. The minutes of all committee meetings
are also provided to all directors.

The Audit Committee assists the Board by providing
oversight of the financial reporting process, systems
of internal control, effectiveness of external audit
process and compliance with legislation and regulatory
requirements.

Further
information
can be found
in the Audit
Committee
report on
pages 43 – 44.

The committee evaluates the annual financial
statements and integrated report and makes
recommendations to the Board for their approval.
The committee reviews accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of financial statements and the
basis for significant estimates and judgements.
The Audit Committee meets at least four times
per year.

Risk Committee

Refer to the
Risk Report on
pages 46 – 49
for the key
business risks
identified.

The Risk Committee is responsible for managing the
Group’s strategic and operational risks, and ensuring
the Company operates a robust risk management
framework. In accordance with the Company’s risk
management policy, management maintains a
comprehensive risk matrix register that is provided to
the Risk Committee for consideration at each meeting.
The Risk Committee meets at least four times per year.

The composition of each committee, and the
attendance of each member at committee meetings,
is indicated in the table below. External advisors,
management and executive directors who are not
members of specific committees may attend
committee meetings by invitation, if deemed
appropriate by the relevant committees and where
such attendance would be of benefit to the
committee.

Remuneration Committee
During the year the nomination function was
assumed by the Board, so the committee’s duties
and responsibilities now include:
•
•

setting the remuneration and incentive system
of all employees (if any); and
recommending the level of directors’ fees
payable to executive and non-executive directors
for approval by shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting.

The Remuneration Committee meets once a year
unless circumstances require more frequent meetings.

Directors’ attendance at Board and committee meetings during the year
Sub-committees
Date of
appointment

Risk and
Audit

Director

Title1

P Bacon

INED

8 Jul 2014

4/4*

N Winearls

INED

8 Jul 2014

4/4

C Folkes

INED

19 Nov 2014

4/4

Y Ng 3

NED

11 Nov 2013

2/2

1/1

K Moothoosamy

NED

11 Nov 2013

3/4

1/1

P Leaf-Wright

ED

11 Nov 2013

4/4

W Morton

ED

21 Feb 2014

4/4

Board

L Rapp

NED

12 Oct 2015

3/4

R Pretorius

INED

11 April 2016

4/4

Investment
4/4*

Risk
Committee 2

Remuneration

Audit
Committee 2

1/1
1/1*

3/3*

4/4

3/3
3/3

2/3

4/4

3/3
3/3

4

2/4

4

4

0/1

1/1*

3/3

3/3*

Notes:
* Denotes chairmanship of committee indicated
1 INED = Independent non-executive director; NED = Non-executive director; ED = Executive director
2 With effect from 11th July 2016, the Audit and Risk Committee was split into the Audit Committee and the Risk Committee
3 Resigned 11th October 2016
4 Laurence Rapp did not attend the Board and Investment Committee meetings in October 2016 due to a family bereavement, and did not attend
the Investment and Remuneration Committee meetings in April 2017 as these fell on a Jewish holiday

Investment Committee
Further details
of the
Company’s
remuneration
policy are
provided in
the
Remuneration
Report on
page 45.

Directors’ interests in shares as at
28 February 2016
Direct
interest

Indirect
interest

Total
interest

P Bacon

0.15%

–

0.15%

N Winearls

Director

The Investment Committee meets at least four times per
year, or whenever an investment decision is required.

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY
GOVERNANCE

0.01%

–

0.01%

C Folkes

–

–

–

Y Ng

–

–

–

K Moothoosamy

–

–

–

P Leaf-Wright

0.02%

1.49%

1.51%

The Board is ultimately responsible for information
technology (“IT”) governance. The IT function is
outsourced to two third-party service providers and is
governed by service level agreements. Compliance
with the service level agreements is monitored by
management, and the terms and performance are
reviewed on a regular basis. There is a dedicated
member of the Management team who oversees the
IT function and prepares the Company’s annual IT risk
and infrastructure assessment. This report, and the
Company’s IT-related risks and controls are provided
to and considered by the Risk Committee.

W Morton

0.04%

–

0.04%

L Rapp

0.11%

0.02%

0.13%

DEALING IN SHARES BY
THE DIRECTORS

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

Dealing in the Company’s shares by directors, Company
officers and the Company Secretary is regulated and
monitored as required by the SEM Listing Rules and JSE
Listings Requirements. The directors confirm that they
have followed the absolute prohibition principles and
notification requirements of the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors as detailed in
Appendix 6 of the SEM Listing Rules. Trading in the
Company’s shares by directors requires prior written
approval by the Chairman of the Board. Atlantic Leaf
maintains a closed period from the end of a financial
period to the date of publication of the financial results
for that period.

Directors’ interests in shares as at
28 February 2017
Direct
interest

Indirect
interest

Total
interest

P Bacon

0.13%

–

0.13%

N Winearls

0.01%

–

0.01%

C Folkes

–

–

–

R Pretorius

–

–

–

K Moothoosamy

–

–

–

P Leaf-Wright

0.01%

1.37%

1.38%

W Morton

0.04%

0.02%

0.06%

L Rapp

0.09%

0.02%

0.11%

Director

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
A list of directors’ interests is maintained by the
Company and the updated list is verified by the
directors at each Board meeting. Directors recuse
themselves from any discussions and decisions in
which they have any financial interest.

All related
party
transactions
are reported
to the Board
quarterly and
are set out in
note 28,
pages 98 – 99
to the Annual
Financial
Statements.

ITL, in its capacity as Company Secretary, provides
guidance to the Board and to individual members as
to how their responsibilities should be properly
discharged in the best interest of the Company.
The qualifications, experience and competence of the
Company Secretary, and the individual persons who
perform the Company Secretary role are considered
on an annual basis. The Board has considered the
quality of service and nature of advice provided by
ITL and ITL’s ability to advise and provide updates on
matters relating to the Mauritian Companies Act, the
Mauritian Report on Corporate Governance and other
relevant regulations and legislation. The Board has
considered these attributes and is satisfied that the
Company Secretary has the necessary skills and
experience to carry out its duties. The Board further
determines whether the Company Secretary has
maintained an arm’s-length relationship with the
Board. The following steps have been considered:
•

•
•
•
•

ITL is one of the largest management companies
in Mauritius and the provision of company
secretarial functions is within the ordinary course
of its business;
ITL’s services are clearly defined in a service level
agreement with Atlantic Leaf;
ITL itself is not a director or material shareholder
of Atlantic Leaf;
ITL does not take on any management or
executive duties on behalf of the Board;
ITL has not entered into any major contractual
relationships with the Company or any director.
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The Investment Committee’s responsibilities
primarily include the approval and maintenance of the
Company’s investment policy, and consideration of
all acquisitions, disposals and capital expenditure
decisions. If investment opportunities are in line with
its investment policy, the committee will recommend
these to the Board for approval.

There have been no changes in shareholdings of the
directors between year-end and the signature of the
report, other than the acquisition of 0.01% indirectly
by W Morton and 0.01% indirectly by P Leaf-Wright.

Corporate Governance continued

REAPPOINTMENT
OF AUDITOR

The Board maintains that the Company Secretary’s
independence from management has not been
compromised and there is no conflict in interest.

The auditor, Mazars have indicated their willingness
to continue in office and a resolution covering their
re-appointment will be proposed at the next Annual
General Meeting of the shareholders in accordance
with Section 200 of the Mauritius Companies
Act 2001.

SUSTAINABILITY
Atlantic Leaf is committed to sustainable practices and
seeks to implement such practices and principles in its
operations as opportunities arise. Under the terms of
the existing leases in the Company’s property
portfolio, tenants are responsible for the buildings and
for improving operational efficiencies at property sites.
Atlantic Leaf looks to make a positive difference to its
stakeholders in a sustainable way, and will remain
conscious of the potential measures that can be taken
to reduce the social and environmental impact of its
properties.

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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DIVIDEND POLICY
It is the intention of the Company to distribute the
majority of its net income to shareholders on a bi-annual
basis, subject to Board approval.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
During the year the Company revised the property
service agreement with Martial Eagle, as detailed
in note 28 of the Annual Financial Statements and
approved by shareholders at the previous annual
general meeting.
In addition, the Company has a facility agreement with
Atlantic Property Investments Limited (“APIL”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Martial Eagle, in terms of
which the Company provides direct and indirect debt
funding to APIL to facilitate its subscription for up to
5% of the issued shares of the Company.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS’
INSURANCE AND
INDEMNIFICATION
The Directors and officers of Atlantic Leaf benefit from
an indemnity insurance cover to the extent permitted by
law for liabilities incurred while performing the duties.

OTHER MATTERS
•

•
Details
of significant
shareholders
in the
Company
have been
included
on page 9.

•
•
•

There are no clauses of the Company’s
constitution which have been deemed material
enough for separate disclosure;
The Board is committed to the highest standards
of integrity and ethical conduct in dealing with all
its stakeholders and thus relies on the Code of
Corporate Governance for Mauritius and King III in
South Africa to guide its approach in this regard;
The Company does not have an employee share
option scheme;
No charitable or political donations have been
granted during the period;
The Company notes the revocation of its previous
Constitution and adoption of a new Constitution
(approved at its Annual General Meeting held on
27th June 2016).

There are no agreements in place with any
shareholders that affect the governance of
the Board or give rise to undue influence
on its operations.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
REPORT

COMPOSITION
The Audit Committee consists of three members, all of whom are
independent non-executive members of the Board. The Board has
determined that the committee members have the skills and
experience necessary to contribute meaningfully to the committee’s
deliberations. In addition, the chairman has the requisite experience
in accounting and financial management.
The following directors served on the committee during the year
under review:
•
•
•

Rudolf Pretorius (Chairman)
Nicholas Winearls
Cleopatra Folkes

Other Board members, management and the external audit partners
and staff attend meetings at the invitation of the committee.
There were four committee meetings held during the year and all
the members attended these meetings.

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE
The committee seeks to provide the Board with additional
assurance regarding the efficacy and reliability of the financial
information used by the directors, and to assist them in the
discharge of their duties.
The committee’s responsibilities are summarised as follows:
•
•

•

•

Ensure that management has created and maintained effective
financial and operational control in the Group
Review and ensure consistency in accounting policies with
adherence to professional and regulatory pronouncements and
that unusual or significant transactions are appropriately
disclosed in the financial statements
Oversee the integrity of the integrated report and annual
financial statements and recommend their approval
to the Board
Review the content of the quarterly financial reports
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THE PRIMARY ROLE
OF THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE IS TO
PROVIDE THE
BOARD
ASSISTANCE IN
FULFILLING ITS
OVERSIGHT
RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL
REPORTING
PROCESS, THE
SYSTEM OF
INTERNAL
CONTROL AND THE
AUDIT PROCESS.

Audit Committee report continued

ACTIVITIES UNDERTAKEN
IN THE CURRENT YEAR

The committee is satisfied with the performance of
the external auditor and recommends that Mazars be
reappointment for the ensuing year.

In addition to fulfilling the above mentioned
responsibilities, the committee completed the
following initiatives:

INTERNAL AUDIT

•

•

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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•

The financial reporting system has been further
developed to provide the Board with sectoral
analysis information.
Enhancements to the quality and detail of the
quarterly financial and risk reporting provided to
the committees and Board.
Considered the JSE Proactive Monitoring Report
issued 13 February 2017 whereby the Report
identified matters where action was required.
Matters applicable to the Company have been
documented and commented on by management
to ensure compliance with the Report’s
recommendations and that matters have been
incorporated into the Company’s financial
statements.

INDEPENDENCE OF
EXTERNAL AUDITOR
The committee has assessed the independence,
expertise and objectivity of Mazars as the external
auditor. The committee has received confirmation
from the external auditor that the partners and staff
responsible for the audit comply with all legal and
professional requirements with regard to rotation and
independence, including the stipulation that they do
not own shares in the Company.
The auditor does not, except as external auditor or in
rendering permitted non-audit services, receive any
remuneration or other benefit from the Company.
Audit and audit-related services are defined by the
Company as follows:
•
•

Services necessary to perform an audit including
without limitation internal control procedures; and
Regulatory audits – defined as those audits where
the auditor is required to give an opinion in relation
to a filing with any regulatory authority.

Non-audit services are defined as any other service
provided by the auditor not included above.
Details of fees paid or expected to be paid to Mazars
are provided below.
Services
Non-audit services1

FINANCIAL FUNCTION
REVIEW
The committee is satisfied that the Chief Financial
Officer and the finance team are sufficiently skilled
and qualified to fulfil their responsibilities and are
adequately resourced to discharge their duties.

INTERNAL CONTROLS
Systems of internal control are designed to manage
the Company’s exposure to risk as it relates to
financial reporting, fraud, IT, and internal financial
controls, and to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against misstatement or loss.
No material matter has come to the attention of the
Board that has caused the directors to believe that the
Company’s system of internal controls and risk
management is not effective and that the internal
financial controls do not form a sound basis for the
preparation of reliable financial statements.
The committee has applied its mind to the preparation
and presentation of the integrated report and
acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the
integrity of the integrated report. The committee
recommended the integrated report to the Board
for approval.

APPROVAL OF THE
COMMITTEE REPORT
The committee confirms that it has functioned in
accordance with its terms of reference for the 2017
financial year and that its report to shareholders has
been approved by the Board.

Fees (GBP)

9 724

Audit fees (FY16)

24 150

Total for the year ended
28 February 2017

33 874

Audit fees (FY17)

36 800

Total for the year ended
28 February 2018

36 800

1

The Company has not established an internal audit
function as the current structure and the nature and
volume of the transactions involved does not justify
an internal audit department.

Professional fees for the review of financial forecasting
relating to the move of the Company to the Main Board of
the JSE and preparation of certificates for scrip dividend.

Rudolf Pretorius
Audit Committee Chairman

REMUNERATION
REPORT

The Remuneration Committee has been mandated by the Board to
approve the remuneration policy and to authorise the remuneration and
incentives of directors. Given the existing corporate and management

structure, the Company currently does not have any employees or
executives that are remunerated directly by the Company. Executive
directors Paul Leaf-Wright and Warren Morton are representatives of
Martial Eagle and accordingly will not be separately remunerated for
their services as directors of the Company. Currently there are no

responsibilities required of the committee relating to executive
remuneration.
Non-executive directors’ remuneration consists of an annual fee in
accordance with their roles and responsibilities within the Board and its
sub-committees. Based on remuneration benchmarking exercises the
Remuneration Committee recommends fees for non-executive directors
to the Board, which are considered by shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting. There is no other form of remuneration paid to
non-executive directors.
Yan Ng (resigned in October 2016) and Kesaven Moothoosamy are
appointees of ITL, the Company’s administrator, and accordingly will not
be separately remunerated for their services as non-executive directors
of the Company.
During the year ended 28 February 2017 the Company remunerated
non-executive directors as per the table below:
Directors’ fees
for the year ended
28 February 2017
GBP

Peter Bacon

13 500

Nicholas Winearls

11 000

Cleopatra Folkes

11 000

Laurence Rapp

11 000

Rudolf Pretorius

9 778*

* Appointed 11 April 2016.

Given the Company’s growth and increased complexity, and
pursuant to the Remuneration Committee’s benchmarking
exercise for FY17, the committee is proposing to the shareholders
at the annual general meeting the approval of fees to be paid by
the Company to the independent non-executive directors for their
services as directors of up to GBP 30 000 per year or pro rata
share thereof.
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THE BOARD BEARS
ULTIMATE
RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE
ORGANISATION’S
REMUNERATION
POLICY.

The Board assumes overall responsibility for risk management and approves
the Company’s processes for identifying and managing risks. To improve the
effectiveness of this function, the Board is assisted by Atlantic Leaf’s Risk
Committee and management who collectively monitor and maintain risk
processes and develop the Company’s system of internal controls. This
multiple-tiered risk management framework ensures that risk identification and
monitoring processes cover both strategic risks and operational risks.
Management monitors risks through a comprehensive risk matrix. On
identification, risks are assessed in terms of their likelihood of occurrence and
potential impact on the Company and its stakeholders. Each risk is then
managed and mitigated to the extent possible. The risk matrix is reviewed by
the Risk Committee at each meeting, and from this a key risk register has
been developed and is reported to the Board quarterly for consideration.
The Board reviews and approves the full risk matrix on an annual basis.
The Board is pleased with the Company’s developing risk management
environment and is satisfied that its risk identification and management
processes have been effective during the year.
The table opposite includes an assessment of the risks currently considered
to be the primary risks of the Company.

Almost
certain

Risk map

Likely

3

Moderate

6
4

Unlikely

5
10

2
1

7

11

8
9

Rare

ATLANTIC LEAF’S
RISK MANAGEMENT
PROCESSES ARE
DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE A
SUITABLE BALANCE
BETWEEN
REALISING
OPPORTUNITIES
AND MINIMISING
THE ADVERSE
EFFECTS OF ANY
ASSOCIATED RISKS.

LIKELIHOOD OF OCCURRING WITHIN 18 MONTHS

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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RISK REPORT

12
Immaterial

Minor

Moderate

Major

IMPACT TO ATLANTIC LEAF

Disastrous

OUTCOME

MITIGATION AND
CONTROLS

Property
acquisitions fail
to achieve
required rate
of return

Communicated
distribution
targets not met

Increased
competition for
investment
opportunities

ZAR volatility
affecting investor
sentiment

1

2

3

4

Inability to meet
distribution targets

Damage to Company
reputation and
increased cost of
capital if share price
negatively affected

Completing valueenhancing deals
becomes more difficult,
impacting ability
to grow

Inability to raise capital

•

•

• Acquisitions assessed
against the Company's
investment policy
• Comprehensive due
diligence performed
• Potential transactions
reviewed by Investment
Committee and presented
to the Board for approval
• Look to diversify asset
classes or geographic
locations where
opportunities are justifiable
• Long-term asset
management plans

•

Robust investment policy
and asset management
framework have proven
highly effective when
sourcing and completing
transactions. Targeted rates
of return have been met.

The Company has delivered
on its distribution targets to
date, demonstrating the
strength of our forecasting
process. Risks affecting
distributions have been
managed appropriately.

•

Comprehensive budget
and forecasting process
Realistic distribution
communications

•
•

Build and develop
business reputation and
contacts in property
markets
Continue exploring all
asset classes
Utilise ability to secure
off-market transactions

Reputation and market
networks are steadily
growing. Recent transactions
demonstrate the Company's
ability to manage the
competition risk.

Careful consideration of
timing of capital raises

The Rand's volatility
continued; however the
Company's latest capital
raise was successful.
South African investors have
maintained a good appetite
for offshore investment.
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BUSINESS IMPACT

Strategic risk

Risk report continued

BUSINESS IMPACT
•

MITIGATION AND
CONTROLS

•

•

Market risk

Funding risk

Credit risk

Inability to raise
capital

Economic
uncertainty from
Brexit

Increase
in market
interest rates or
an inability to
refinance debt at
acceptable
terms

Tenant
concentration
risk

5

6

7

8

Restrict Company
growth and affect
ability to increase
earnings and
distributions

May negatively affect
value of property
portfolio or
opportunities to enact
investment strategy

Increase in cost of
financing and therefore
reduction in
distributable income.
Significant rate
increases
may affect ability to find
value-enhancing deals

Loss of rental income,
devaluation of property
in the event of material
tenant default

Build and develop
Company brand and
reputation in capital
markets
Look to create and
exploit competitive
advantages through
investment type and
strategic focus
Capital only raised to
fund known transactions

•

•

Management and
property managers
monitor indicators of
market direction
Long-term leases
provide consistent
earnings despite
potential valuation
movements.

•

•

•

•

OUTCOME

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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Strategic risk

Latest capital raise
successfully completed
which demonstrates the
Company's valuable brand
and reputation.

Demand in United Kingdom
real estate market has
remained strong during
period of uncertainty;
however Management
continue monitoring property
and economic trends.
A depressed economic
environment may also create
favourable acquisition
opportunities.

Hedge exposure to
interest rate fluctuations
through use of derivative
instruments
Continuous monitoring
and management of
credit metrics
Maintain gearing ratios
in accordance with
debt policy and within
covenants agreed
with lenders
Develop and maintain
relationships with a
number of lenders

Debt funding is United
Kingdom-based where base
interest rate is low, and
expected to remain low for
some time.
Management monitor all
debt facilities and treasury
reports are provided to the
Board quarterly for
consideration.

•

•

•

Strong tenant covenants
in place and
comprehensive tenant
due diligence completed
for acquisitions
Monitoring of tenant
financial stability and
credit rating
Tenant concentration
exposure is analysed
and presented to the
Risk Committee
quarterly

Currently a risk given the
Company's high exposure
to Booker (38% by rental
income).
Risk managed in the short
term by monitoring tenant's
financial stability, currently
considered to be strong.
Risk will be diluted in the
long term through further
acquisitions.

OUTCOME

MITIGATION AND
CONTROLS

•

•

Operational risk

Noncompliance
with regulatory
and legal
requirements

Non-compliance
with tax
legislation

Loss of key
management

Insufficient
maintenance of
properties

9

10

11

12

Financial penalties,
loss of credibility or
suspension of
Company's listing

Increased tax liabilities
and potential penalties

Losing a key member
may affect the
Company's short-term
ability to operate as
effectively

Damage and
deterioration of
properties resulting in
a loss in value

Active monitoring by
Management, corporate
sponsors and Company
Secretary
Expert advice taken on
complex or emerging
regulatory matters

The compliance environment
developed well over the past
year as systems and internal
frameworks were refined.
This risk is managed through
the collaboration of
the Risk Committee,
Management, and the
Company's various advisers.

•

•

In-house tax function
provides support and
guidance on tax matters
Professional advice
taken on complex or
contentious tax matters

•

•
•

The tax function has further
improved over the past year
as policies and compliance
frameworks have been
refined.

Remuneration and
opportunities for staff
are targeted at retaining
talent
Succession planning for
crucial positions
Grow size of key
management team to
share knowledge
and skills

Currently a risk for Atlantic
Leaf given its size. Risk is
reducing as the Company
grows – additional human
resources joined during
the year, helping to share
crucial expertise across a
wider group.

•

•

All properties have
fully repairing and
insuring leases with
re-instatement clauses
where tenants are
responsible for all
property maintenance
and comprehensive
insurance
Regular property
inspections by property
managers

No signs of insufficient
maintenance. Mitigating
factors in place have
managed risk to an
acceptable level.
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Regulatory & legal risk

Property
specific risk

CONSOLIDATED
ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The directors of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”) are responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements, comprising the Group’s and Company’s statements of financial position as at
28 February 2017, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and in compliance with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001.
The directors’ responsibilities include: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances. The directors have made an assessment of the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern
and have no reason to believe the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP AND COMPANY
The annual financial statements of the Group and Company have been approved by the Board of directors on 17 April 2017.
Signed on behalf of the Board by:

Paul Leaf-Wright
Chief Executive Officer
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Peter Bacon
Chairman

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

We, the Directors of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited, confirm to the best of our knowledge that this Public Interest Entity has
complied with all its obligations and requirements under the Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”) under Section 75(3)
of the Financial Reporting Act for the period 1 March 2016 to 28 February 2017.

Peter Bacon
Chairman

Paul Leaf-Wright
Chief Executive Officer

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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17 April 2017

COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE

We certify to the best of our knowledge and belief that Atlantic Leaf has filed with the Registrar of Companies all such
returns as are required of the Company under section 166 (d) of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 for the year ended
28 February 2017.

Intercontinental Trust Limited
Company Secretary
17 April 2017

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have the pleasure in presenting their report for the year ended 28 February 2017.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with
the Mauritius Companies Act 2001.

1.

NATURE OF THE BUSINESS
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (“the Company” or “Atlantic Leaf”) is a Mauritian-incorporated Company that has been
established with the principal objective of investing in quality real estate assets that are income yielding with the
potential of capital appreciation. It is dual-listed with primary listings on both the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (“SEM”)
and on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”). There has been no change to the nature of the business.

2.

DISTRIBUTIONS
The Atlantic Leaf board of directors are pleased to announce a distribution of 4.30 pence per share for the six
months ended 28 February 2017, further to a distribution of 4.20 pence per share declared for the six months ended
31 August 2016.

3.

REVIEW OF RESULTS
The operating results and state of affairs of the Group and Company are fully set out in the attached consolidated and
separate financial statements.

4.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

5.
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There were 142 671 209 shares in circulation as at 28 February 2017 (2016: 123 407 090). Refer to note 11 for details
of share issues. Refer to the integrated report for dealings in shares by directors.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:
Name
Peter Bacon

Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Paul Leaf-Wright

Chief Executive Officer

Warren Morton

Financial Director

Cleopatra Folkes

Independent Non-Executive Director

Nicholas Winearls

Independent Non-Executive Director

Kesaven Moothoosamy

Non-Executive Director

Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin (Resigned 11 October 2016)

Non-Executive Director

Laurence Rapp

Non-Executive Director

Rudolf Pretorius (Appointed 11 April 2016)

Independent Non-Executive Director

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) and
the Company’s separate financial statements which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 28
February 2017, the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes set out on pages 66 – 99.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements on pages 62 – 99 give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group and the Company as at
28 February 2017 and their financial performance, changes
in equity and cash flows for the year ended on that date
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and comply with the Mauritius Companies
Act 2001.
Matter
Valuation of investment properties
The Group’s accounting policy in note 3.3 of the
accounting policies in the consolidated financial
statements states that Investment Property is measured
at fair value.
The property’s valuation takes into account propertyspecific information such as the current tenancy
agreements and rental income. Assumptions are
made for yields and estimated market rent, which are
influenced by prevailing market yields and comparable
market transactions, to arrive at the final valuation.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. In addition, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Audit response
We evaluated the controls introduced by management over the
quarterly valuation of investment property.
Where management relied on externally generated valuation
reports we tested these valuation reports for all the properties
and confirmed that the valuation approach for each was in
accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
(“RICS”) standards and suitable for use in determining the
carrying value for the purpose of the financial statements.

We performed substantive tests of details and substantive
analytical review procedures to assess whether the fair value
of income generating investment property is reasonable.
These include the following:
• Agreeing the valuation of all investment properties which
have been revalued to valuation reports prepared by external
experts appointed by the directors, as well as valuation
reports prepared by the directors;
The significance of the estimates and judgements
•
Considering the terms of engagement and basis of
involved, coupled with the fact that only a small
preparation of externally prepared property valuation reports,
percentage difference in individual property valuations,
recalculating any specific valuation workings;
when aggregated, could result in a material misstatement,
•
Assessing the competence, capability and integrity of the
warrants specific audit focus in this area.
appointed expert;
The valuation of the Group’s investment properties
as detailed in note 4 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, involves significant judgements
made by management and the valuers, particularly those
around the selection of valuation models and the inputs of
those models, current market conditions and rental levels.

Valuation of investment properties continued
Therefore, a high degree of subjectivity is attached to
the fair value estimation which could result in a material
misstatement due to incorrect estimates.

Audit response
•

•

•
•

Accounting for complex transactions
The Group has undertaken a number of acquisitions
during the year.
The transactions warranted additional audit focus due
to the magnitude of transactions and the potential for
complex contractual terms that introduce judgement
into how they were accounted for.

Valuation of interest rate swaps
Refer to note 3.6 in the accounting policies and note 8
to the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
The Group has entered into various interest rate swaps
(“swaps”) which are designated as cash flow hedges.
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the
interest rate swap agreements are designated and
qualify as cash flow hedges and are recognised in other
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion (if any) is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
Assessing the fair value of the swaps is inherently
subjective as the Group uses its judgement to select
suitable valuation techniques and make assumptions
which are mainly based on market conditions existing
at the balance sheet date.
The calculation of the hedge effectiveness is a complex
calculation and requires additional audit focus.

Testing the key assumptions used in the determination of
the fair value in the valuation report (external and directors
reports), including analysing the accuracy of the rental
income in the calculations compared to the actual results
and comparing discount rates used to available industry
data for available investment properties;
Testing whether directors have properly assessed the
relevance of valuation assumptions applicable at the
year-end;
Reviewing the investment property held for any evidence
of impairment; and
Assessing the adequacy of disclosures with regard to the
investment property portfolio held in the consolidated
financial statements.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
• Agreeing the transaction details to the underlying legal
agreements;
• Challenging management’s judgements by inspecting the
sale and purchase agreements and other related documents
and by assessing the transaction against the recognition,
measurement and classification criteria according to the
Group’s accounting policies and the applicable IFRS;
• Assessing the fair value of the consideration paid, as well
as the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired in light of available market information;
• Considering the adequacy of the disclosures associated with
the transactions in the financial statements; and
• Considering whether the acquisition constitute a business
combination under IFRS 3 or whether the acquisition should
be accounted for as an asset acquisition in accordance with
IAS 40.
We have evaluated the Group’s methodology in respect of
determining the fair value as at the reporting date and assessed
compliance with the requirements of IFRS.
We have used an external third party actuary to independently
calculate the valuation of the swaps and to calculate the hedge
effectiveness and compared the results of the actuary to that
calculated by management to assess whether the hedge
is effective.
We have assessed the competence, objectivity and integrity
of the appointed expert.
We assessed whether the interest rate swap recognition
and measurement policies adopted by the Group complied
with IFRS.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members
of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited continued

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements
which are in accordance with and comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards, which give a true and fair
view of the matters to which they relate, and which
present fairly the financial position of the Group and the
Company as at 28 February 2017 and their financial
performance, changes in equity and cash flows for the
year ended on that date.
In preparing the financial statements, directors are
responsible for assessing the Group and Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless directors either
intends to liquidate the Group and Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

•

•

•

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group and Company’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive

•

•

to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision, and performance of the audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

The Mauritius Companies Act 2001 requires that in
carrying out our audit we consider and report to you
on the following matters. We confirm that:
a) we have no relationship with, or interests in, the
Company or any of its subsidiaries other than in
our capacity as auditors;
b) we have obtained all the information and explanations
we have required; and
c) in our opinion, proper accounting records have been
kept by the Company as far as appears from our
examination of those records.

THE FINANCIAL REPORTING ACT 2004
The directors are responsible for preparing the corporate
governance report. Our responsibility is to report the extent
of compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance
(the “Code”) and on whether the disclosure is consistent
with the requirements of the Code. In our opinion, the
disclosure is consistent with the requirements of the Code.

OTHER MATTER
This report, including the opinion has been prepared
for and only for the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Section 205 of the Mauritius Companies
Act 2001 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shown or into whose hands it may come save where
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Mazars

Udaysingh Taukoordass, FCA
Licensed by FRC

17 April 2017
Mauritius
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We have audited the consolidated and separate
financial statements of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
(“the Group”) set out on pages 62 –99, which comprise
the statements of financial position as at 28 February
2017, and the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the statements of changes in
equity and the statements of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated and separate financial position of the Group
as at 28 February 2017, and its consolidated and separate
financial performance and consolidated and separate cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

BASIS FOR OPINION

are independent of the Group in accordance with
the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code
of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors
(“IRBA Code”) and other independence requirements
applicable to performing audits of financial statements
in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and
in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable
to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is
consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated and separate financial
statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
and separate financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We
Matter
Valuation of investment properties (Note 4)
The Group’s accounting policy in note 3.3 of
the accounting policies in the Annual Financial
Statements states that Investment Property is
measured at fair value.
The property’s valuation takes into account
property-specific information such as the current
tenancy agreements and rental income.
Assumptions are made for yields and estimated
market rent, which are influenced by prevailing
market yields and comparable market
transactions, to arrive at the final valuation.
The valuation of the Group’s investment
properties, as detailed in note 4 of the notes
to the Annual Financial Statements, involves
significant judgements made by management
and valuers, particularly those around the
selection of valuation models and the inputs
to those models, and current market conditions.

Audit response
We evaluated the controls introduced by management over the quarterly
valuation of investment property.
We performed substantive tests of detail and substantive analytical
review procedures on a sample of investment properties to assess
whether the fair value of income generating investment property is
reasonable. These include the following:
• agreeing the valuation of all investment properties which have been
revalued to valuation reports prepared by external experts appointed
by the directors, as well as valuation reports prepared by the
directors;
• considering the terms of engagement and basis of preparation
of externally prepared property valuation reports;
• recalculating any specified valuation workings;
• assessing the competence, objectivity and integrity of the appointed
expert;
• confirmed that the valuation approach for each external valuation was
in accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”)
standards and suitable for use in determining the carrying value for
the purpose of the financial statements;

Valuation of investment properties (Note 4)
continued
The significance of the estimates and
judgements involved, coupled with the high
number of individual estimates performed, could
result in a material misstatement, and therefore
warrants specific audit focus.

Audit response

•

•
•

Accounting for complex transactions (Note 4)
The Company has undertaken a number of
acquisitions during the year.
These transactions warranted additional audit
focus due to the magnitude of transactions
and the potential for complex contractual terms
that introduce judgement into how they were
accounted for.

Valuation of effectiveness of interest rate swaps
Refer to note 3.6 in the accounting policies
and note 8 to the Notes to the Annual Financial
Statements.
The Group has entered into various interest
rate swaps (“swaps”) which are designated
as cash flow hedges. The effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the interest rate
swap agreements are designated and qualify
as cash flow hedges and are recognised in other
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating
to the ineffective portion (if any) is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
Assessing the fair value of the swaps is
inherently subjective as the Group uses its
judgement to select suitable valuation techniques
and make assumptions which are mainly based
on market conditions existing at the balance
sheet date.
The calculation of the hedge effectiveness is
a complex calculation and requires additional
audit focus.

testing the key assumptions used in the determination of the
fair value in the valuation reports (external and directors reports),
including comparing the rental income in the calculations to the
actual results and comparing discount rates used to available industry
data for available investment properties;
testing whether directors have properly assessed the appropriateness
of valuation assumptions used; and
assessing the adequacy of disclosures with regard to the investment
property portfolio held in the consolidated Annual Financial
Statements.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
• agreeing the transaction details to the underlying legal agreements;
• challenging management’s judgements by inspecting the sale
and purchase agreements and other related documents and by
assessing each transaction against the recognition, measurement
and classification criteria according to the Group’s accounting policies
and the applicable IFRS;
• assessing the fair value of the consideration paid, as well as the
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in light
of available market information;
• considering the adequacy of the disclosures associated with the
transactions in the financial statements; and
• considering whether the acquisitions constitute a business
combination under IFRS 3 or whether the acquisition should be
accounted for as an asset acquisition in accordance with IAS 40.
We have evaluated the Group’s methodology in respect of determining
the fair value as at the reporting date and assessed compliance with the
requirements of IFRS.
We have used an external third party actuary to independently calculate
the valuation of the swaps and to calculate the hedge effectiveness and
compared the results of the actuary to that calculated by management
to assess whether the hedge is effective.
We have assessed the competence, objectivity and integrity of the
appointed expert;
We assessed whether the interest rate swap recognition and
measurement policies adopted by the Group complied with IFRS
and the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting
Practices Committee.
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Matter

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders
of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited continued

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the Directors’ Report,
Audit and Risk Committee Report and the Company
Secretary’s Certificate, which we obtained prior to the
date of this report, and the Annual Report, which is
expected to be made available to us after that date.
Other information does not include the consolidated
and separate financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial
statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated and
separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated and separate financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed on the other information obtained prior to the
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated and separate financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial
statements, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the Group and/or the Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated and separate financial
statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated and separate financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

•

•

•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated and separate financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated and separate financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group and/or the Company to cease to
continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated and separate financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated and separate financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors,
we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate

financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government
Gazette Number 39475 dated 04 December 2015,
we report that Mazars South Africa has been the
auditor of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited for 1 year.

Mazars
Registered Auditor
Partner: Duncan Dollman
Registered Auditor
17 April 2017
Cape Town
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2017

GROUP

COMPANY

Notes

2017

2016

Investment properties

4

303 068 000

195 349 116

–

–

Interest in subsidiaries

5

–

–

156 039 680

117 845 032

Listed investments

6

702 193

672 386

702 193

672 386

Loan receivable

7

–

6 775 883

–

6 775 883

Other receivables

9

150 123

–

–

–

12

–

6 000 000

–

6 000 000

303 920 316

208 797 385

156 741 873

131 293 301
1 896 899

Figures in GBP

2017

2016

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

9

1 335 291

2 252 041

1 031 396

Cash and cash equivalents

10

12 696 078

6 223 292

8 457 068

4 953 726

14 031 369

8 475 333

9 488 464

6 850 625

317 951 685

217 272 718

166 230 337

138 143 926

11

152 772 761

132 854 283

152 772 761

132 854 283

8

(1 880 949)

(1 783 633)

–

–

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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Capital and reserves
Stated capital
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Deposit paid for acquisition of properties

Retained earnings

Cash flow hedge reserve

3 904 456

4 959 307

13 005 198

4 959 239

Ordinary shareholders’ interest

154 796 268

136 029 957

165 777 959

137 813 522

Total equity

154 796 268

136 029 957

165 777 959

137 813 522

149 574 995

74 096 765

–

–

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings

13

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

14

3 662 997

3 762 654

452 378

330 404

Current portion interest bearing borrowings

13

7 038 750

1 237 500

–

–

Tax payable

19

887 088

297 318

–

–

Derivative financial instruments

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

8

1 991 587

1 848 524

–

–

13 580 422

7 145 996

452 378

330 404

317 951 685

217 272 718

166 230 337

138 143 926

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017

GROUP
Figures in GBP

Notes

Rental revenue
Straight-line lease income adjustment
Management fees

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

20 035 401

8 489 734

–

–

1 293 509

683 562

–

–

–

–

1 888 119

–

21 328 910

9 173 296

1 888 119

–

(862 555)

(513 091)

–

–

Other operating expenditure

(2 401 771)

(2 018 193)

(1 934 201)

(1 665 268)

Operating income/(loss)

18 064 584

6 642 012

(46 082)

(1 665 268)

1 935

73 368

1 579

73 368

16

196 770

222 696

194 491

217 014

4

1 062 312

–

–

–

256 986

(216 072)

257 065

(216 072)

Revenue
Property operating expenses

Other income
Investment income
Profit on disposal of investment property
Profit/(loss) on foreign exchange
Fair value adjustments

17

(4 518 202)

1 769 464

17 781 482

7 040 047

Finance costs

18

(4 483 354)

(2 527 994)

–

–

10 581 031

5 963 474

18 188 535

5 449 089

Profit before taxation
Taxation

19

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

(1 496 520)

(520 842)

(3 214)

(6 525)

9 084 511

5 442 632

18 185 321

5 442 564

(97 316)

(1 783 633)

–

–

(97 316)

(1 783 633)

–

–

8 987 195

3 658 999

18 185 321

5 442 564

9 084 511

5 442 632

18 185 321

5 442 564

18 185 321

5 442 564
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
Fair value movement on interest rate swaps

8

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent

8 987 195

3 658 999

Weighted average number of shares in issue

20

129 548 965

62 491 061

Basic and diluted earnings per share (GBP pence)

20

7.01

8.71

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017

Figures in GBP

Cash flow
hedge
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

34 770 873

–

1 363 806

36 134 679

–

–

5 442 632

5 442 632

–

(1 783 633)

–

(1 783 633)

22.2

–

–

(1 847 131)

(1 847 131)

11

98 083 410

–

–

98 083 410

132 854 283

(1 783 633)

4 959 307

136 029 957

Notes

Stated
capital

GROUP
Balance at 1 March 2015
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Dividends
Issue of shares (net of transaction costs)

8

Balance at 28 February 2016

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Dividends
Issue of shares (net of transaction costs)
Balance at 28 February 2017

Figures in GBP

–

–

9 084 511

9 084 511

8

–

(97 316)

–

(97 316)

22.2

–

–

(10 139 362)

(10 139 362)

11

19 918 478

–

–

19 918 478

152 772 761

(1 880 949)

3 904 456

154 796 268

Stated
capital

Retained
earnings

Total

34 770 873

1 363 806

36 134 679

–

5 442 564

5 442 564

22.2

–

(1 847 131)

(1 847 131)

11

98 083 410

–

98 083 410

132 854 283

4 959 239

137 813 522

Notes

COMPANY
Balance at 1 March 2015
Profit for the year
Dividends
Issue of shares (net of transaction costs)
Balance at 28 February 2016
Profit for the year
Dividends
Issue of shares (net of transaction costs)
Balance at 28 February 2017

–

18 185 321

18 185 321

22.2

–

(10 139 362)

(10 139 362)

11

19 918 478

–

19 918 478

152 772 761

13 005 198

165 777 959

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017

GROUP
Figures in GBP

COMPANY

Notes

2017

2016

2017

2016

22

17 162 555

2 491 953

953 274

(3 039 634)

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Finance costs
Income tax paid
Net cash from/(utilised in) operating activities

204 980

146 722

202 701

141 043

(4 182 627)

(2 252 143)

–

–

(906 750)

(517 159)

(3 214)

(6 525)

12 278 158

(130 627)

1 152 761

(2 905 116)

–

–

(6 912 923)

(3 107 652)

Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries
Payment for business combinations

5
22.1

Acquisition of investment properties
Sale of investment property
Sale of listed investments

6

–

(27 885 537)

–

–

(114 685 033)

(62 329 516)

–

–

11 300 000

–

–

–

–

432 369

–

432 369

Loan to subsidiaries repaid

–

–

69 785 857

7 440 453

Deposit utilised/(paid) for acquisition of properties

–

(6 000 000)

–

(6 000 000)

23 643

33 821

23 643

33 821

–

–

(77 315 907)

(91 703 496)

Dividends received
Loan advanced to subsidiaries
Loan advanced to Atlantic Properties
Investments Limited

(25 689)

(4 943 411)

(25 689)

(4 943 411)

6 759 419

–

6 759 419

–

(96 627 660)

(100 692 274)

(7 685 600)

(97 847 916)

Proceeds from issue of shares

19 430 385

97 701 063

19 430 385

97 701 063

Proceeds from borrowings

88 499 186

57 954 878

–

–

(7 713 000)

(56 615 443)

–

–

(9 651 269)

(1 464 784)

(9 651 269)

(1 464 784)

Net cash generated from financing activities

90 565 302

97 575 714

9 779 116

96 236 279

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

6 215 800

(3 247 187)

3 246 277

(4 516 753)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

6 223 292

9 686 551

4 953 726

9 686 551

Loan to Atlantic Properties Investments Limited repaid
Net cash utilised in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings
Dividends paid

22.2

Effects of exchange differences on cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

10

256 986

(216 072)

257 065

(216 072)

12 696 078

6 223 292

8 457 068

4 953 726
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Cash flows from investing activities

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) hold a
portfolio of investment properties in the United Kingdom. The Company was incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius
as a public company limited by shares in accordance with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. The Company holds a
Category 1 Global Business Licence under the Financial Services Act 2007 and is regulated by the Financial Services
Commission. Its registered office is Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201, Mauritius.
The Company has primary listings both on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (“SEM”) and on the Johannesburg Stock
Exchange (“JSE”). The principal activity of the Company is to invest in high quality, investment grade real estate assets
and companies which deliver suitable returns for investors through both income and capital growth.
The Company is managed by Martial Eagle Limited, a company registered in Mauritius.

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretation
Committee (“IFRS IC”), the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, Financial Reporting Act 2004, Mauritian Securities Act
2005, SEM Listing Rules and JSE Listings Requirements.

INCOME AND CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The Group has elected to present a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and presents its
expenses by nature. The Group reports cash flows from operating activities using the indirect method. Interest received
and interest paid is presented within operating cash flows. The acquisitions of investment properties are disclosed as
cash flows from investing activities because this most appropriately reflects the Group’s business activities.
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The subsidiaries derive rental income from investment properties.

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited

PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, applying a historical cost convention, except for
the measurement of investment properties, investments and derivative financial instruments that have been measured
at fair value.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements in the period the assumptions are
changed. Management believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are
disclosed in note 3.1.

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate annual financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

3.1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Group and Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, at the end
of the reporting period. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgements of facts at the reporting date,
the actual outcome may differ from those estimates.
These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and any future periods.

3.
3.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS CONTINUED
Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements which
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

i)

Business combination versus asset acquisition
The directors consider various factors to determine whether a property acquisition constitutes the acquisition of a
business as defined in IFRS 3 or an acquisition of property. An acquisition is accounted for as a business combination
where it has employees who are required to follow policies and processes related to relevant activities of the business
and where it is capable of being conducted and managed as a business by market participants.

ii)

Determination of functional currency
The primary objective of the Group is to generate returns and capital growth in Pound Sterling (“GBP”) for the benefit
of its shareholders. The assets and liabilities of the Group and the cash flows are predominantly GBP denominated and
GBP is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. The Group’s performance is
evaluated in GBP. Management, therefore considers GBP as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic
effect of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.

Estimates and assumptions

i)

Fair value of financial instruments
Refer to note 26 for information on valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing assets and liabilities.

ii)

Fair value of investment properties
Refer to note 4 for information on valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing investment properties.

iii)

Taxes
The subsidiaries are subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The subsidiaries recognise liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made.

3.2

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group.
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is accounted for at fair value. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the consideration transferred at the acquisition date over the fair value of the identifiable net asset acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the total consideration transferred is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is regarded as a bargain purchase and is recognised directly in the income statement.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

Accounting policies continued

3.
3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the
companies in the Group, is classified as investment property.
Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs. Refer to note 4. After initial
recognition, investment property is carried at fair value.
Changes in fair values are recognised in the income statement. Investment properties are derecognised when they
have been disposed.

3.4

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Loans forming part of investments in subsidiaries
Loans forming part of the investment in subsidiaries are loans provided by the Company to its subsidiaries on terms
which are interest-free with no current or foreseeable intention to recall the loan. The loan investments are recognised
as the difference between the loan amount and the fair value of the loan on initial recognition and represents an
additional equity investment by the Company in its subsidiaries. In the case of the loan investments, the aforementioned
difference represents 100% of the loan amount since the fair value of the loan itself is zero, resulting in the difference
being recognised as part of the investment.

3.5

LEASES
The Group is party to numerous leasing contracts as lessor of property. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it
does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. All of the Group’s leases are operating
leases.

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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In the Company’s separate annual financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at fair value through
profit or loss.

Contractual rental income relating to investment properties held directly by the Group is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the period from acquisition date of such investment property to the end of the relevant lease term. In doing
so, only the contractual rental income due to the Group (as a result of the direct acquisition of the investment property
and the simultaneous cession of the lease agreements to the acquirer) in terms of the lease agreement is smoothed
in the Group’s income statement. Operating lease assets/liabilities acquired by virtue of a business combination are
recognised at initial recognition. The adjustment does not affect vested income. Where leases are terminated the lease
cancellation amount is recognised immediately as revenue.

3.6

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial
recognition.
•
•

Financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value and transaction
costs incurred are immediately expensed in profit or loss.
Financial instruments not classified as fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value plus any
directly attributable transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method, less accumulated impairments.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•
•

financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss and
loans and receivables

3.
3.6

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
The Group’s financial assets are classified as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

Listed investments are classified at fair value through profit or loss. The Group invests in listed shares with a view
to profiting from their total return in the form of dividends and fair value;
Loans receivable are classified as loans and receivables;
Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables;
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less are classified as loans and receivables; and
Deposits paid that represent a contractual right to cash are classified as loans and receivables. Deposits paid that
do not represent a contractual right to cash are presented separately from financial instruments.

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period (other than financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss). Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective
evidence of impairment. Evidence of impairment will include where a debtor has consistent delay in amounts due.
A debtor will be written off when amounts due are older than 90 days.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (held-for-trading) or other
liabilities at amortised cost. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial liabilities.

•
•
•

Interest bearing borrowings are classified as other financial liabilities;
Derivatives comprising interest rate swaps are held-for-trading financial instruments measured at fair value through
profit or loss. The Group applies hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39; and
Trade and other payables are classified as other financial liabilities.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates interest rate swap agreements as cash flow hedges.
Note 8 sets out the details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes.
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of interest rate swap agreements that are designated and qualify as
cash flows hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
(if any) is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit
or loss in the periods when the related interest payment is recognised in profit and loss.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires
or is sold, terminated or exercised or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income at that time is accumulated in equity and is recognised when the transaction is ultimately
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

3.7

STATED CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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The Group’s financial liabilities are classified as follows:

Accounting policies continued

3.
3.8

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
TAXATION
Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are
enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income.
Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity through other comprehensive income is recognised
in equity and not in the statement of profit or loss.
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The Group periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulations are subject to interpretation and estimate payables where appropriate.

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided in full using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Currently enacted tax rates are used to
determine deferred tax.

3.9

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received or receivable.
The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income using the effective
interest rate.

Management fees
Management fees are received from subsidiaries and accrued for on a quarterly basis.

Rental income
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. When the Group
provides incentives to its tenants, the cost of incentives is recognised over the lease term, on a straight-line basis,
as a reduction of rental income.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on the date the Group’s or Company’s
right to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is usually the ex-dividend date.

3.10 EXPENSE RECOGNITION
All expenses are accounted for in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

Property expenses
Property expenses comprise all direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from investment
property during the period.

Interest expense
Interest expense is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income using the effective
interest rate.

3.
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
3.11 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. Gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transaction.

3.12 DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION
Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved.

3.13 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The Group has not applied the following new, revised or amended pronouncements that have been issued as they
are not yet effective for the financial year beginning 1 March 2016 (the list does not include information about new
requirements that affect interim financial reporting or first-time adopters of IFRS since they are not relevant to the
Group). The Board anticipates that the new standards, amendments and interpretations will be adopted in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements when they become effective. Management is still in the process of assessing the
impact of all these new standards.
Annual periods
beginning on or after

Possible impact

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
New standard that replaces IAS 39. The standard
incorporates classification and measurement requirements
that are driven by cash flow characteristics and the Group
business model. Financial instruments are classified into
one of three classes: amortised cost, fair value through
profit or loss and fair value through other comprehensive
income. The standard also incorporates a forward looking
‘expected loss’ impairment model. Hedge accounting has
been substantially modified and is more aligned with risk
management activities.

The Group is still in the process of
assessing the impact of this standard on its
financial statements. Overall, the Group
expects the adoption of the forwardlooking expected-loss model to not have a
significant impact.

1 January 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
New standard that establishes a single, comprehensive
and robust framework for the recognition, measurement
and disclosure of revenue.

The Group’s main source of revenue is
rental income, which is outside the scope
of IFRS 15. As a result the Group does not
expect the adoption of this standard to
have a significant impact.

1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases
New standard that introduces a single accounting model
for lessees, while the accounting for lessors is left
largely unchanged from its predecessor (IAS 17 Leases).

The adoption of IFRS 16 will result in a
decrease in the Group’s operating lease
expense and an increase in the Group’s
finance costs and depreciation expense in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
It will also result in an increase in the
Group’s finance lease liabilities and
property, plant and equipment on the
Statement of Financial Position.

1 January 2019
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3.
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
3.13 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
Annual periods
beginning on or after

Details of Standard/interpretation

Possible impact

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
Amendment: As part of a major initiative to improve
presentation and disclosure in financial reports, designed
to further encourage companies to apply professional
judgement in determining what information to disclose in
their financial statements.

Amended disclosures.

1 January 2017
(prospectively)

Additional disclosures.

1 January 2017
(prospectively)

Such as the following:
• Materiality consideration
• Line items in the Statement of Financial Position and
Statement of Comprehensive Income can be
aggregated or disaggregated as relevant.
Examples added to show how notes can be ordered to
help understandability and comparability.
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
Amendment: New disclosure requirements for liabilities
arising from financing activities:
• Changes from financing cash flows
• Changes from obtaining or losing control of
subsidiaries
• Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
• Changes in fair values
• And other changes

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
GROUP
Figures in GBP

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

303 068 000

195 349 116

–

–

195 349 116

–

–

–

–

129 264 185

–

–

Purchase of investment properties (including related
transaction costs)

120 959 726

63 869 935

–

–

Disposal of investment property

(10 150 000)

–

–

–

(4 384 351)

1 531 434

–

–

Investment properties at fair value
Movement for the year
At beginning of the year
Arising on business combinations

Change in fair value
Straight-line lease adjustment arising during the year
Balance at end of year

1 293 509

683 562

–

–

303 068 000

195 349 116

–

–

301 090 929

194 665 554

–

–

1 977 071

683 562

–

–

303 068 000

195 349 116

–

–

Reconciliation
Investment properties
Straight-line lease adjustment
Balance at end of year
•

•
•
•

•

On 17 March 2016, a subsidiary purchased four new properties in Coventry, Nuneaton, Redditch and St Helens,
tenanted by E.ON UK Plc, Booker Cash and Carry Limited, Halfords Limited and Palmer & Harvey McLane
Limited at a total value of GBP 15.9 million, GBP 10.8 million, GBP 30.3 million and GBP 11.4 million respectively.
On 14 November 2016, a subsidiary disposed of a property in Wombourne, tenanted by Spectrum Brands UK
Limited at a total value of GBP 11.3 million, which had a carrying value of GBP 10.2 million.
On 25 November 2016, a subsidiary acquired a new property in Runcorn, tenanted by DHL Supply Chain Limited
at a total value of GBP 29.2 million.
On 30 January 2017, the Company acquired all the shares in SPCP Group Ill LOPD 14, Ltd for GBP 22.9 million,
consisting of a property located in Peterborough. The property is tenanted by Thomas Cook Group UK Limited
and Bauer Consumer Media Limited. This is a wholly owned subsidiary.
Additional transaction costs amounting to GBP 0.4 million were incurred during the year on three existing
properties. These costs were capitalised to the value of the properties.

Valuation assumptions
Independent valuations are carried out by Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) regulated external
valuers, who have recent experience in the location and category of the investment properties being valued and on
the basis of ‘Market Value’, in accordance with the current Practice Statements contained within the RICS ‘Valuation –
Professional Standards, the 2012 Edition’ (the “Red Book”). This is an internationally accepted basis of valuation.
In accordance with RICS, the Investment Method is used to value properties which are income producing future
cash flows through the letting of properties. Conventionally, investment value is a product of rent and yield. Each of
these elements is derived using comparison techniques within the relevant property markets and sectors.
Discounted cash flow (“DCF”) techniques are also frequently used in the appraisal of investment property and again
comparison is used to derive values for many of the key inputs in the calculation including not only rent and yield but
also the growth rate, discount rate, costs and disposal price.
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4.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES CONTINUED
Valuation assumptions continued
All valuations are reviewed by management on a quarterly basis, taking into account market forces such as yield
movement, occupier and investor sentiment, supply and demand as well as other valuation principles to establish
whether there is likely to be a material change in asset values. The reviews are carried out by management and
approved by the Board of Directors. An external desktop valuation, in accordance with RICS standards, is carried out
at least every 12 months. A full Red Book valuation is done on all of the properties every 3 years. Changes to key
inputs may result in a valuation at year end that differs from the last external valuation.
All properties generated rental income during the year.
All of the investment properties have been pledged to secure the existing borrowings of GBP 156.6 million
(2016: GBP 75.3 million). Refer to note 13.

The average forward yield (cap rate) on investment properties at 28 February 2017 is 7.27% (2016: 7.53%).
For information about fair value adjustments using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), refer to note 26 for fair
value classification.
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement are capitalisation rate and vacancy levels,
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s property portfolio together with the impact of
significant movements in these inputs on the fair value measurement.
The effect of a change in capitalisation rate of 50 basis points is detailed in the table below:
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Refer to the supplementary schedules for details of investment properties and rentals.

Range of
unobservable
inputs
(cap rates)

Effect of 50bps
change in
capitalisation
rate GBP

Country

Category

Valuation
GBP

Rental
income
GBP

UK

Retail Warehouse

5 810 000

420 800

6.25% – 7.50%

398 954

UK

Industrial

221 303 000

16 601 910

6.00% – 11.50%

15 023 476

UK

Office

75 955 000

5 639 930

6.25% – 7.75%

4 945 056

303 068 000

22 662 640

2017

2016

– within one year

22 662 640

13 522 788

– later than one year but within five years

90 650 558

70 677 138

Figures in GBP

20 367 486

Future rent receivable

– later than five years

150 181 848

112 563 453

Total

263 495 046

196 763 379

The Group earns rental income by leasing its investment properties to tenants under non-cancellable operating
leases. The Group has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties and accounts for contracts as operating leases.

INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

Name

Country of
incorporation and
place of business

Percentage holding
2017

COMPANY
2016

2017

2016

ALF Guernsey Limited

Guernsey

100%

100%

8 271 295

2 462 690

ALP Guernsey Limited

Guernsey

100%

100%

2 859 671

921 863

ALF IOM Limited

Isle of Man

100%

100%

1 969 465

1

ALP IOM Limited

Isle of Man

100%

100%

1

1

Farringdon Properties Limited

Isle of Man

100%

100%

21 187 874

15 195 479

Wincar Property Ltd

British Virgin Islands

100%

100%

670 531

966 031

Winex Property Ltd

British Virgin Islands

100%

100%

374 617

101 405

Winpaign Property Ltd

British Virgin Islands

100%

100%

1 618 510

1 566 224

Wintel Property Ltd

British Virgin Islands

100%

100%

133 623

37 998

Winup Property Ltd

British Virgin Islands

100%

100%

62 578

56 515

Lexo Limited

Isle of Man

100%

100%

1 576 231

11 676

Trido Limited

Isle of Man

100%

100%

262 478

3 952

Hyder Limited

Isle of Man

100%

–

158 041

–

SPCP Group lll LOPD 14, Ltd

British Virgin Islands

100%

–

6 843 518

–

45 988 433

21 323 835

All the subsidiaries are either directly or indirectly engaged in real estate activities. Refer to note 26 for fair value
estimation.

Valuation assumptions for interest in subsidiaries
The fair value of interest in subsidiaries that are not traded in an active market is determined using various valuation
techniques. The Group makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period. The adjusted net asset method is used to determine fair value for investments in subsidiary companies.
The adjusted net asset method determines the fair value of the investment by reference to the fair value of the
individual assets and liabilities recognised in the subsidiaries’ statements of financial position, excluding the
mark-to-market value on interest rate swaps, which have been classified as a cash flow hedge. Where applicable
to a subsidiary, a premium based on the additional value that its properties can attract as a portfolio is included in
the fair value of the subsidiaries because in many cases market evidence indicates that portfolio sales of properties
tend to command a better price than individual asset sales. The significant inputs to the adjusted net asset method
are the fair values of the individual assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries.
The inputs used to value the investments in the subsidiaries include the investment properties as listed in note 4.
Refer to note 4 for a sensitivity analysis relating to the investment property values and for details of the acquisitions
during the current year.
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5.

INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES CONTINUED
GROUP
Figures in GBP
Balance at the beginning of year
Additions

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

21 323 835

10 972 604

21 323 835

10 972 604

–

–

6 912 923

3 107 652

Fair value adjustments

–

–

17 751 675

7 243 579

Effect on consolidation

(21 323 835)

(10 972 604)

–

–

Balance at end of year

–

–

45 988 433

21 323 835

ALF Guernsey Limited

–

–

30 290 712

25 782 887

ALF IOM Limited

–

–

24 031 158

7 959 731

ALP Guernsey Limited

–

–

4 922 467

7 656 325

ALP IOM Limited

–

–

2 972 421

2 806 401

Farringdon Properties Limited

–

–

7 156 614

(532 044)

Seahawk Investments Limited

–

–

–

19 864 353

Wincar Property Ltd

–

–

56 764

18 772

Winex Property Ltd

–

–

1 143 368

1 067 218

Winpaign Property Ltd

–

–

75 125

10 285

Wintel Property Ltd

–

–

218 384

196 884
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Loans to/(from) subsidiaries

Winup Property Ltd

–

–

141 246

128 471

Lexo Limited

–

–

8 812 256

23 244 861

Trido Limited

–

–

19 894 678

8 317 053

Hyder Limited

–

–

8 782 762

–

SPCP Group lll LOPD 14, Ltd

–

–

1 553 292

–

–

–

110 051 247

96 521 197

The loans are interest free, unsecured and with no fixed
terms of repayment.
Total interest in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries

–

–

45 988 433

21 323 835

Loans in subsidiaries

–

–

110 051 247

96 521 197

–

–

156 039 680

117 845 032

LISTED INVESTMENTS
GROUP AND COMPANY
Listed security investments are categorised as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. The fair
values of the listed security investments are determined based on quoted prices in active markets. The list of
investments are provided below:
The following table indicates the Group and Company’s investment holdings by market value as at year end:
Number of ordinary shares
Figures in GBP

2017

2016

COMPANY
2017

2016

Name of investee Company
Derwent London Plc
Hammerson Plc
Klepierre
Land Securities Group Plc

3 300

3 300

93 060

100 089

17 900

17 900

105 342

98 361

1 814

1 814

54 337

54 436

9 500

9 500

101 270

95 855

SEGRO Plc

43 000

43 000

212 334

178 665

British Land Company Limited

22 000

22 000

135 850

144 980

Balance at end of year

702 193

672 386

Balance at the beginning of year

672 386

1 234 919

–

(432 369)

Disposals

–

73 368

Fair value adjustments

Realised fair value on disposal

29 807

(203 532)

Balance at end of year

702 193

672 386

Disposals
During the previous year the Company disposed of its
shares in the investments as detailed below. There
were no disposals during the current year.
Klepierre

–

7 000

–

209 393

Unibail Rodamco

–

1 270

–

222 976

–

432 369
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LOAN RECEIVABLE
GROUP
Figures in GBP
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Atlantic Property Investments Limited

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

–

6 775 883

–

6 775 883

Atlantic Property Investments Limited (“APIL”) is an unconsolidated entity wholly-owned by Martial Eagle Limited
(“Martial Eagle”), the management company. As per the Property Service Agreement (“PSA”), Martial Eagle has a
right to subscribe for up to 5% of the shares in Atlantic Leaf, which it has done via APIL. The loan to APIL is made to
fund the acquisition of these shares and is made through a facility agreement and bears interest at the weighted
average funding rate of the Company for the last year. The Company has issued shares to APIL in respect of each
individual loan. As collateral security to secure the repayment of each individual loan, APIL has agreed to pledge
those shares. Atlantic Leaf’s maximum exposure to loss from this arrangement, excluding the effect of collateral
obtained, amounts to the carrying amount of the loan. This loan was repaid in full during the year and replaced by a
guarantee to a third party. Refer to note 25.2 and 28 for further details.

8.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
In accordance with the terms of the borrowing arrangements and group policy, the subsidiaries have entered into
interest rate swap agreements. The interest rate swap agreements are entered into by the borrowing entities to
convert the borrowings from floating to fixed interest rates and are used to manage the interest rate profile of
financial liabilities and eliminate future exposure to interest rate fluctuations. It is the Group’s policy that no
economic trading in derivatives is undertaken.
The following tables set out the interest rate swap agreements at 28 February 2017 and 28 February 2016.

Counterparty

Company

Fixed basis

HSBC

Farringdon Properties Limited

1.60%

HSBC

Farringdon Properties Limited

Santander
Santander

Swap
end date

Fair value
Nominal

2017

16/10/2020

20 000 000

790 151

1.27%

16/10/2018

10 000 000

151 664

ALP Guernsey Limited

1.53%

17/01/2019

2 656 056

44 595

ALP Guernsey Limited

1.79%

17/07/2018

2 232 072

59 833

Santander

ALP Guernsey Limited

1.54%

22/10/2020

1 478 250

53 023

Santander

ALP Guernsey Limited

1.54%

22/10/2020

3 663 750

131 809

Santander

Wincar Properties Ltd

2.29%

12/05/2019

1 067 000

42 776

Santander

Winex Properties Ltd

2.29%

12/05/2019

2 454 000

98 572

Santander

ALP IOM Limited

1.03%

27/11/2020

5 787 500

101 223

HSBC

Trido Limited

0.88%

16/03/2019

15 877 500

203 111

HSBC

Trido Limited

0.95%

16/03/2020

14 261 250

153 366

HSBC

Trido Limited

0.85%

16/03/2019

10 987 500

106 132

HSBC

SPCP Group lll LOPD 14, Ltd

0.71%

30/07/2020

9 918 750

55 332
1 991 587

Interest accrual

(110 638)
1 880 949

8.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Counterparty

Company

Fixed basis

HSBC

Farringdon Properties Limited

1.60%

HSBC

Farringdon Properties Limited

Santander

Fair value

Swap
end date

Nominal

2016

16/10/2020

20 000 000

849 716

1.27%

16/10/2018

10 000 000

187 477

ALP Guernsey Limited

1.95%

17/07/2020

3 433 721

187 469

Santander

ALP Guernsey Limited

1.53%

17/01/2019

2 410 178

83 197

Santander

ALP Guernsey Limited

1.79%

17/07/2018

2 866 923

66 025

Santander

ALP Guernsey Limited

1.54%

22/10/2020

1 523 250

57 560

Santander

ALP Guernsey Limited

1.54%

22/10/2020

3 768 750

142 935

Santander

Wincar Properties Ltd

2.29%

12/05/2019

1 118 000

57 049

Santander

Winex Properties Ltd

2.29%

12/05/2019

2 568 000

131 336

Santander

ALP IOM Limited

1.03%

27/11/2020

6 250 000

85 760
1 848 524

Interest accrual

(64 891)
1 783 633

Refer to note 25.1(b) for interest rate risk sensitivity analysis.

9.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
GROUP
Figures in GBP
Other receivables
– Non-current
– Current

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

1 225 483

152 866

1 005 178

1 150

150 123

–

–

–

1 075 360

152 866

1 005 178

1 150

Interest receivable

10 300

–

10 300

–

Trade receivables

156 377

201 950

–

–

93 254

10 565

15 918

9 089

Prepayments
Legal Trust Account

10.
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Derivative financial liabilities comprise interest rate swaps and are measured at the present value of future cash
flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates.

–

1 886 660

–

1 886 660

1 485 414

2 252 041

1 031 396

1 896 899

Bank balances

12 667 614

6 213 520

8 428 604

4 943 954

Broker account

28 464

9 772

28 464

9 772

12 696 078

6 223 292

8 457 068

4 953 726

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
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11.

STATED CAPITAL
GROUP AND COMPANY
2017

Issued

Number of
ordinary
shares

At the beginning of the year

123 407 090

Shares issued by way of
scrip dividend

Price per
share

GROUP AND COMPANY
2016

Net amount
after costs

Number of
ordinary
shares

132 854 283

33 941 306

Price per
share

Net amount
after costs
34 770 873

451 938

1.08

488 093

354 025

1.08

382 347

– Issue 1

18 788 395

1.07

19 404 696

27 629 738

1.09

30 137 456

– Issue 2

23 786

1.08

25 689

17 254 373

1.08

18 547 054

– Issue 3

–

–

–

44 227 648

1.12

49 016 553

152 772 761

123 407 090
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Shares issued for cash
consideration

At the end of the year

142 671 209

132 854 283

Transaction costs recognised as a deduction from equity in the current year amount to GBP 698 887
(2016: GBP 784 944).
The unissued shares are under the control of the directors of the Company.

12.

DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF PROPERTIES
GROUP
Figures in GBP
Escrow account for the benefit of the seller

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

–

6 000 000

–

6 000 000

In the prior year, the Company had agreed terms to purchase an additional four properties. The balance held in
Escrow relates to the deposit paid for this transaction. The transaction was concluded on 17 March 2016.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
GROUP
Figures in GBP
Non-current
Current

2017

2016

149 574 995

74 096 765

7 038 750

1 237 500

156 613 745

75 334 265

Variable rate loans
Non-current and current

Funder

Name of borrower

Interest rate

Facility
end date

Santander Bank

ALP Guernsey Limited

LIBOR + 2.25%

ALP Guernsey Limited

HSBC Bank

GROUP
2017

2016

17/01/2019

2 211 298

3 182 867

LIBOR + 2.25%

17/07/2018

2 635 101

3 787 481

ALP Guernsey Limited

LIBOR + 2.25%

17/07/2020

–

4 530 681

ALP Guernsey Limited

LIBOR + 2.25%

22/10/2020

4 831 924

4 958 604

ALP Guernsey Limited

LIBOR + 2.25%

22/10/2020

1 948 998

2 004 153

ALP IOM Limited

LIBOR + 2.25%

27/11/2020

5 719 115

6 097 593

Wincar Property Ltd

LIBOR +2.45%

29/04/2019

1 067 000

1 118 000

Winex Property Ltd

LIBOR +2.45%

29/04/2019

2 454 000

2 568 000

Winpaign Property Ltd

LIBOR +2.45%

29/04/2019

2 359 000

2 488 000

Wintel Property Ltd

LIBOR +2.45%

29/04/2019

550 500

576 000

Winup Property Ltd

LIBOR +2.45%

29/04/2019

372 000

390 000

Farringdon Properties Limited

LIBOR + 1.95%

16/10/2020

33 966 084

33 820 471

Farringdon Properties Limited

LIBOR + 1.90%

16/10/2018

9 832 760

9 812 415

SPCP Group lll LOPD 14, Ltd

LIBOR + 1.90%

29/07/2020

12 936 443

–

Lexo Limited

LIBOR +1.65%

16/03/2019

14 591 404

–

Trido Limited

LIBOR +1.60%

16/03/2019

8 268 858

–

Trido Limited

LIBOR + 1.80%

16/03/2020

23 834 033

–

Trido Limited

LIBOR + 1.65%

16/03/2019

12 771 010

–

140 349 528

75 334 265
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13.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS CONTINUED
GROUP
Figures in GBP

2017

2016

Fixed rate loans
Non-current and current
Aviva Commercial Finance Limited Hyder Limited

2.15%

25/11/2021

Total variable and fixed

16 264 217

–

156 613 745

75 334 265

Interest costs may increase or decrease as a result of changes in the interest rates. This has been hedged using
interest rate swap agreements as per note 8. The weighted average floating rates were at LIBOR plus a margin
of 1.9% (2016: 2.1%). Refer to note 25.1(b) for details on Group interest rate risk management.
Transaction costs capitalised to the cost of debt that are amortised over the term of the loan amounted to
GBP 1 008 585 (2016: GBP 1 270 692).

BORROWING POWERS
The borrowing capacity of the Company and its subsidiaries is unlimited in terms of their Memoranda of
Incorporation.

14.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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The Group had no undrawn facilities at year end.

Figures in GBP

2016

2017

2016

113 988

9 245

60 806

51 206

1 838 741

1 239 657

–

–

Trade payables

766 084

1 842 986

391 572

279 198

Value Added Tax

389 617

394 915

–

–

Accrued interest

465 940

275 851

–

–

88 627

–

–

–

3 662 997

3 762 654

452 378

330 404

Accruals
Rent received in advance

Other

15.

2017

COMPANY

NET INCOME/(LOSS)
GROUP
Figures in GBP

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

56 278

37 013

56 278

37 013

12 565

3 826

12 565

3 826

Net income/(loss) is arrived at after taking into account
the following items:
Directors’ emoluments
Directors fees
Operating lease charges
Premises

INVESTMENT INCOME
GROUP

COMPANY

Figures in GBP

2017

2016

2017

2016

Dividend income

23 643

33 821

23 643

33 821

Interest on bank balances

13 029

54 365

10 750

48 683

160 098

134 510

160 098

134 510

196 770

222 696

194 491

217 014

Interest earned on loan facilities. Refer to note 28.

GROUP
Figures in GBP

17.

2017

COMPANY
2016

2017

2016

FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS
Fair value gain on interest in subsidiaries

–

–

17 751 675

7 243 579

Fair value adjustment on unlisted investments

–

441 562

–

–

(4 384 351)

1 531 434

–

–

Fair value gain on investment properties

4 075 625

2 305 815

–

–

Fair value loss on investment properties

(7 166 467)

(90 819)

–

–

Straight line lease adjustments

(1 293 509)

(683 562)

–

–

Fair value adjustments to investment properties

Fair value adjustment on interest rate swaps

(163 658)

–

–

–

Fair value adjustment on listed investments

29 807

(203 532)

29 807

(203 532)

(4 518 202)

1 769 464

17 781 482

7 040 047

GROUP
Figures in GBP

18.

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

3 785 941

2 191 875

–

–

697 413

335 184

–

–

–

935

–

–

4 483 354

2 527 994

–

–

FINANCE COSTS
Interest on loan facilities
Interest on interest rate swaps
Other interest paid

GROUP
Figures in GBP

19.

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

1 493 306

514 317

–

–

3 214

6 525

3 214

6 525

–

–

–

–

1 496 520

520 842

3 214

6 525

TAXATION
Non-Resident Landlord Tax
Withholding tax
Corporate tax
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19.

TAXATION CONTINUED
Corporate taxation
The Company, being the holder of a Category 1 Global Business Licence, is classified as a tax incentive company
and under current laws and regulations is liable to pay income tax on its profits, as adjusted for tax purposes, at the
rate of 15%. The Company is however entitled to a tax credit equivalent to the higher of actual foreign tax paid or
80% of the Mauritian tax payable in respect of its foreign source income, thus reducing its maximum effective tax
rate to 3%. Gains or profits from the sale of units of securities by a Company holding a Category 1 Global Business
Licence under the Financial Services Act 2007 are exempt for tax purposes in Mauritius.
The Company has tax losses that are available for set off against its future taxable profits as follows:
COMPANY
Figures in GBP

2017

2016

28 February 2020

–

249 434

28 February 2021

140 129

787 541

140 129

1 036 975

This analysis is based on current interpretations and practice and is subject to any future changes in Mauritian tax
laws.
Corporate tax reconciliation
A numerical reconciliation between the profit before tax for the year and the actual corporate income tax charge is
shown below:

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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Up to year ended

COMPANY
Figures in GBP

2017

2016

Profit before tax

18 188 535

5 449 089

2 728 280

817 363

(2 705 782)

(1 110 290)

Tax calculated at the rate of 15%
Income not subject to tax
Non-deductible expenses
(Utilised)/unutilised tax loss for the year
Actual income tax charge

43 250

174 796

(65 748)

118 131

–

–

None of the subsidiaries within the Group are subject to corporate tax.
GROUP
Figures in GBP

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

297 318

–

–

–

–

293 635

–

–

1 493 306

514 317

–

–

(903 536)

(510 634)

–

–

887 088

297 318

–

–

Recognition of tax charge for the year
Balance at beginning of the year
Balance arising on business combination
Tax charge for the year
Tax paid
Balance at year end

20.

EARNINGS AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 28 February 2017 is based on the income attributable
to ordinary equity holders of GBP 9 084 511 (2016: GBP 5 442 632) and the weighted average of 129 548 965
(2016: 62 491 061) ordinary shares in issue during the year. The Company has no dilutionary instruments in issue.

HEADLINE AND ADJUSTED HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
GROUP
Figures in GBP

2017

2016

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent

9 084 511

5 442 632

Fair value adjustments to investment properties

4 384 351

(1 531 434)

Profit on disposal of investment property

(1 062 312)

–

–

(42 500)

12 406 550

3 868 698

(1 293 509)

(683 562)

–

42 500

Fair value loss on cash flow hedges transferred

163 658

–

Transaction costs

365 725

1 011 871

Gain on bargain purchase
Headline earnings
Add back:
Straight-line lease adjustment
Gain on bargain purchase
Adjusted for once-off costs:

Foreign exchange loss on equity raised

–

253 113

11 642 424

4 492 620

Headline and diluted headline earnings per share (GBP pence)

9.58

6.19

Adjusted headline and diluted headline earnings per share (GBP pence)

9.00

7.19

Adjusted headline earnings

Headline earnings per share is disclosed for further information. The calculation of headline earnings per share for
the year ended 28 February 2017 is based on headline earnings of GBP 12.4 million (2016: GBP 3.9 million) and the
weighted average of 129 548 965 (2016: 62 491 061) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Adjusted headline earnings per share is disclosed for further information. The calculation of adjusted headline
earnings per share for the year ended 28 February 2017 is based on adjusted headline earnings of GBP 11.6 million
(2016: GBP 4.5 million) and the weighted average of 129 548 965 (2016: 62 491 061) ordinary shares in issue during
the year.
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22.

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
GROUP

COMPANY

Figures in GBP

2017

2016

2017

2016

Profit before tax

10 581 031

5 963 474

18 188 535

5 449 089

Adjustments for:

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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Interest expense

4 483 354

2 527 994

–

–

Foreign exchange gain/(loss)

(256 986)

216 072

(257 065)

216 072

Interest income

(173 127)

(188 875)

(170 848)

(183 193)

Dividend income

(23 643)

(33 821)

(23 643)

(33 821)

Fair value gain on interest in subsidiaries

–

(441 562)

(17 751 675)

(7 243 579)

Fair value gain on investment properties

4 384 351

(1 531 434)

–

–

Fair value adjustment to listed investments

(29 807)

203 532

(29 807)

203 532

Fair value adjustment to interest rate swaps

163 658

–

–

–

(1 062 312)

–

–

–

Profit on sale of investment property
Profit on sale of listed investments

–

(73 368)

–

(73 368)

Gain on bargain purchase

–

(42 500)

–

–

Interest rate swaps accrued

–

64 891

–

–

Movements in straight-lining lease balance

(1 293 509)

(683 562)

–

–

Operating cash flow before working capital changes

16 773 010

5 980 841

(44 503)

(1 665 268)

Working capital changes
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables

841 850

(1 392 426)

875 803

(1 575 769)

(452 305)

(2 096 462)

121 974

201 403

17 162 555

2 491 953

953 274

(3 039 634)

Cash paid

–

33 108 907

–

–

Cash acquired through business combination

–

(5 223 370)

–

–

Net cash outflow

–

27 885 537

–

–

10 139 362

1 847 131

10 139 362

1 847 131

(488 093)

(382 347)

(488 093)

(382 347)

9 651 269

1 464 784

9 651 269

1 464 784

Decrease in trade and other payables
Cash generated by operating activities

22.1 PAYMENT FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS

22.2 DIVIDENDS PAID TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dividends declared during the year
Shares issued in lieu of cash dividends
Net cash outflow

23.

FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
GROUP
Figures in GBP

2017

COMPANY
2016

2017

2016

Operating lease commitments
Future minimum rent payable as follows:
– within one year

649 715

648 715

–

–

2 598 860

2 594 860

–

–

– later than five years

43 508 023

42 379 121

–

–

Total

46 756 598

45 622 696

–

–

– later than one year but within five years

The financial commitments represent head lease commitments that run for periods in excess of 20 years. Head
lease commitments exist on 13 of the properties tenanted by Booker Limited. The above commitments will be
funded from the proceeds of the rental revenue received on the underlying leases.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Figures in GBP

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through profit
or loss –
designated

Total

GROUP
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2017
Financial assets
Listed investments
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)
Cash and cash equivalents

Figures in GBP

–

702 193

702 193

1 392 160

–

1 392 160

12 696 078

–

12 696 078

14 088 238

702 193

14 790 431

Financial
liabilities
amortised
cost

Fair value
through profit
or loss – held
for trading

Total

1 434 639

–

1 434 639

156 613 745

–

156 613 745

–

1 991 587

1 991 587

158 048 384

1 991 587

160 039 971

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing borrowings
Derivative financial instruments

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued

24.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Figures in GBP

Figures in GBP
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing borrowings
Derivative financial instruments

Total

6 775 883
–
2 241 476
6 223 292
15 240 651

–
672 386
–
–
672 386

6 775 883
672 386
2 241 476
6 223 292
15 913 037

Financial
liabilities
amortised
cost

Fair value
through profit
or loss – held
for trading

Total

2 128 082
75 334 265
–
77 462 347

–
–
1 848 524
1 848 524

2 128 082
75 334 265
1 848 524
79 310 871

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through profit
or loss –
designated

Total

–

156 039 680

156 039 680

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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GROUP
2016
Financial assets
Loan receivable
Listed investments
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)
Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through profit
or loss –
designated

Figures in GBP
COMPANY
2017
Financial assets
Interest in subsidiaries
Listed investments

–

702 193

702 193

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)

1 015 478

–

1 015 478

Cash and cash equivalents

8 457 068

–

8 457 068

9 472 546

156 741 873

166 214 419

Financial
liabilities
amortised
cost

Fair value
through profit
or loss – held
for trading

Total

452 378

–

452 378

Figures in GBP
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Figures in GBP
COMPANY
2016
Financial assets
Loan receivable
Interest in subsidiaries
Listed investments
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)
Cash and cash equivalents

Figures in GBP
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through profit
or loss –
designated

Total

6 775 883
–
–
1 887 810
4 953 726
13 617 419

–
117 845 032
672 386
–
–
118 517 418

6 775 883
117 845 032
672 386
1 887 810
4 953 726
132 134 837

Financial
liabilities
amortised
cost

Fair value
through profit
or loss – held
for trading

Total

330 404

–

330 404

Gains/(losses) from the above categories of financial assets are disclosed as follows:
•
•
•

Investment income from other financial assets is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income;
Fair value gains/(losses) on derivative financial instruments are shown on the face of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income; and
Interest income on trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents is included in investment income
and shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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25.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is inherent in
the Group’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and
monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. The process of risk management is critical to the Group’s
continuing profitability.
The Board of Directors has set up a separate Risk Committee and Audit Committee to assist the Board in identifying
and evaluating financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units to assist in:
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•
•
•
•
•
•

The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and investing excess liquidity. These policies are reviewed regularly
to reflect changes in market conditions and in the Group’s activities.
Key financial risk management reports are produced quarterly on a Group level and provided to the key management
personnel in the Group.

Financial Risk Factors
The risk management function within the Group is carried out in respect of financial risks. The Group’s activities
expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (which includes currency risk and interest rate risk), equity price
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
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The safeguarding of the Group’s assets;
The appropriateness and effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls;
The quality and integrity of financial reporting and disclosures, and the risks related thereto;
The Group’s compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and accounting requirements;
An assessment of the Group’s service providers; and
An assessment of the adequacy or otherwise of the insurance cover taken out by the Company and
its subsidiaries.

25.1 MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. The Group’s market risks arise from open positions in:
(a) foreign currencies, and
(b) interest-bearing assets and liabilities,
to the extent that these are exposed to general and specific market movements. Management sets guidelines on
the exposure to currency and interest rate risk that may be accepted, which are monitored on a monthly basis (see
details below). However, the use of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these guidelines in the event
of more significant market movements.
Sensitivities to market risks included below are based on a change in one factor while holding all other factors
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the factors may be correlated – for example,
changes in interest rate and changes in foreign currency rates.

(a)

Currency risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign currency risk, primarily with respect to the ZAR. The
Group’s financial assets and liabilities, and those of its underlying subsidiaries are predominantly denominated in
GBP which is the Group’s functional currency.
However, within the subsidiaries, there may be a foreign currency risk in the underlying investments as these may in
some cases derive income in their respective local currencies. Favourable fair value changes to the Group may
therefore also be dependent on favourable changes to foreign exchange rates in the underlying investments.
The Group has financial assets and liabilities denominated in Euro (“EUR”) and South African Rand (“ZAR”).

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
25.1 MARKET RISK CONTINUED
Currency profile
The currency profile of the Group and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities is summarised as follows:
GROUP

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

GBP

14 695 167

15 376 456

166 119 154

131 598 256

EUR

54 654

53 055

54 654

53 055

Figures in GBP
Financial assets

ZAR

40 610

483 526

40 610

483 526

14 790 431

15 913 037

166 214 418

132 134 837

160 032 236

79 301 529

444 643

321 062

USD

5 912

1 083

5 912

1 083

ZAR

1 823

8 259

1 823

8 259

160 039 971

79 310 871

452 378

330 404

Prepayments amounting to GBP 93 254
(2016: GBP 10 565) are excluded from the financial
assets as at 28 February 2017.
GBP

The Group is not exposed to material changes in foreign exchange rates and equity indices.

(b)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk principally arises from long-term borrowings. Refer to note 13. Borrowings issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group does not have borrowings at fixed rates
and therefore has no significant exposure to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group’s policy is to fix the interest rate on a portion of its interest bearing borrowings. To manage this, the
Group enters into interest rate swaps in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference
between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed upon notional principal
amount. At 28 February 2017, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, nearly 74% (2016: 63%) of
the Group’s borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest. Trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are
interest free and with a term of less than one year, so it is assumed that there is no interest rate risk associated
with these financial assets and liabilities.
The Group’s interest rate risk is monitored by the Group’s management on a monthly basis. The interest rate risk policy
is approved annually by the Board of Directors. Management analyses the Group’s interest rate exposure on a dynamic
basis. Various scenarios are simulated, taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions and
alternative financing sources. Based on these scenarios, the Group calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined
interest rate shift. The scenarios are run only for liabilities that represent the major interest-bearing positions.
Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
The impact of the change in interest rate (+/– 50 basis points) on profit before tax is as follows:
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
25.1 MARKET RISK CONTINUED
GROUP

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

Cash and cash equivalents

62 687

89 021

62 687

89 021

Loan to APIL

40 396

16 813

40 396

16 813

Borrowings

232 064

55 415

232 064

55 415

Figures in GBP

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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25.2 CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing
to discharge an obligation. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents held at banks, trade receivables,
including rental receivables from lessees. Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Such risks are subject to a
quarterly or more frequent review. The Group has policies in place to ensure that rental contracts are entered into
only with lessees with an appropriate credit history.
In order to minimise any possible risks relating to cash, surplus funds can only be invested with investment
grade banks.
The credit quality of loans to subsidiaries are assessed with reference to their solvency. Based on the
aforementioned, the Company is of the opinion that the credit quality of loans to subsidiaries is fair.
The Company has guaranteed the payment obligations of a loan of GBP 6.6 million by Investec Limited to Atlantic
Property Investments Limited. The loan is repayable in September 2019. The value of the guarantee is currently
valued at zero as no payments are expected to be made under the guarantee.
Trade and other receivables are up to date.
GROUP
Figures in GBP

2017

COMPANY
2016

2017

2016

Maximum exposure to credit risk
Loan to subsidiaries

–

–

110 051 247

96 521 197

12 696 078

6 223 292

8 457 068

4 953 726

–

6 775 883

–

6 775 883

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)

1 542 283

2 241 476

1 015 478

1 887 810

Guarantee

6 550 000

–

6 550 000

–

20 788 361

15 240 651

126 073 793

110 138 616

Cash and cash equivalents
Loan receivable

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
25.3 LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to
settle their obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous. The
Group manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments, credit facilities and interest rates so
as to balance the Group’s exposure to interest rate and refinancing risk.
The Group’s liquidity position is monitored on a daily basis by management and is reviewed quarterly by the Board
of Directors. A summary table with maturity of financial assets and liabilities presented below is used by key
management personnel to manage liquidity risks and is derived from managerial reports at Group level. The amounts
disclosed in the tables below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Undiscounted cash flows in respect of
balances due within 12 months generally equal their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position, as the
impact of discounting is not significant.
Refer to credit risk note above with regards to the guarantee payment obligations.
Management constantly reviews the liquidity risk of the Group which includes the long term repayment profile of
the bank borrowings. The Group plans to fund these payments in the future by refinancing the debt. Management
are in constant communication with existing lenders regarding their appetite to continue to provide funding after the
forecasted repayments dates.
The maturity analysis of financial instruments as at 28 February 2017 is as follows:

Summary quantitative data
Less than
1 year

Between
1 and 5 years

Over
5 years

Total

12 696 078

–

–

12 696 078

702 193

–

–

702 193
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Figures in GBP
GROUP
2017
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Listed securities
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)

1 242 037

–

150 123

1 392 160

14 640 308

–

150 123

14 790 431

10 539 502

156 783 201

–

167 322 703

848 722

1 570 528

–

2 419 250

1 838 741

–

–

1 838 741

– Trade payables

854 711

–

–

854 711

– VAT

389 617

–

–

389 617

– Accruals

579 928

–

–

579 928

6 550 000

–

–

6 550 000

21 601 221

158 353 729

–

179 954 950

Liabilities
Bank borrowings (inclusive of expected future interest payments)
Derivative financial instruments (expected future
interest payments)
Trade and other payables:
– Rent received in advance

Guarantees
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
25.3 LIQUIDITY RISK CONTINUED
Figures in GBP

Less than
1 year

Between
1 and 5 years

Over
5 years

Total

6 223 292

–

–

6 223 292

672 386

–

–

672 386

GROUP
2016
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Listed securities
Loans receivable

–

–

6 775 883

6 775 883

2 091 353

–

150 123

2 241 476

8 987 031

–

6 926 006

15 913 037

4 388 558

81 734 977

–

86 123 535

695 320

2 272 615

–

2 967 935

– Rent received in advance

1 239 657

–

–

1 239 657

– Trade payables

1 842 986

–

–

1 842 986

394 915

–

–

394 915
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Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)

Liabilities
Bank borrowings (inclusive of expected future interest payments)
Derivative financial instruments (expected future interest
payments)
Trade and other payables:

– VAT

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited

– Accruals

Figures in GBP

285 096

–

–

285 096

8 846 532

84 007 592

–

92 854 124

Less than
1 year

Between
1 and 5 years

Over
5 years

Total

8 457 068

–

–

8 457 068

COMPANY
2017
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Listed securities
Unlisted securities and loans to subsidiaries
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)

702 193

–

–

702 193

–

–

156 039 680

156 039 680

1 015 478

–

–

1 015 478

10 174 739

–

156 039 680

166 214 419

391 572

–

–

391 572

60 806

–

–

60 806

452 378

–

–

452 378

Liabilities
Trade and other payables:
– Trade payables
– Accruals

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
25.3 LIQUIDITY RISK CONTINUED
Figures in GBP

Less than
1 year

Between
1 and 5 years

Over
5 years

Total

4 953 726

–

–

4 953 726

672 386

–

–

672 386

–

–

117 845 032

117 845 032

2016
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Listed securities
Unlisted securities and loans to subsidiaries
Loans receivable
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)

–

–

6 775 883

6 775 883

1 887 810

–

–

1 887 810

7 513 922

–

124 620 915

132 134 837

279 198

–

–

279 198

Liabilities
Trade and other payables:
– Trade payables
– Accruals

51 206

–

–

51 206

330 404

–

–

330 404
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25.4 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
GROUP
Figures in GBP
Total borrowings (Note 13)

2017

2016

156 613 745

75 334 265

Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 10)

(12 696 078)

(6 223 292)

Net debt

143 917 667

69 110 973

Total investment assets

303 770 193

208 797 385

47%

33%

Loan to value ratio

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders or return capital to shareholders. To reduce debt, the Group can issue new shares or sell assets.
The Group strategy is to maintain a loan to value (“LTV”) ratio that ensures the property performance is translated
into an enhanced return to shareholders, while at the same time ensuring that it will be able to continue as a going
concern through changing market conditions. The directors are of the opinion that a LTV ratio (excluding cash and
cash equivalents) in the range of 50% to 60%, in respect of secured external borrowings is an appropriate target for
the Group, given the current market conditions.
The Group is required to adhere to debt service cover ratios which have been achieved during the year.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued

26.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
The table below analyses financial instruments and investment properties carried at fair value, by valuation method.
The different levels have been defined, based on the inputs used as follows:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)

Figures in GBP

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total
fair value

–

–

303 068 000

303 068 000

702 193

–

–

702 193

–

(1 991 587)

–

(1 991 587)

–

–

195 349 116

195 349 116

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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GROUP
2017
Assets and liabilities
Investment properties
Listed securities
Derivative financial liabilities
2016
Assets and liabilities
Investment properties
Listed securities
Derivative financial liabilities

672 386

–

–

672 386

–

(1 848 524)

–

(1 848 524)

COMPANY
2017
Assets and liabilities
Listed securities
Unlisted Securities

702 193

–

–

702 193

–

–

156 039 680

156 039 680

672 386

–

–

672 386

–

–

117 845 032

117 845 032

2016
Assets and liabilities
Listed securities
Unlisted securities

Significant transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3
There have been no significant transfers during the year under review.
Unobservable inputs
Unobservable inputs for Level 3 investment properties are disclosed in note 4 and investment in subsidiaries
in note 5.

SEGMENT REPORT
The Group is focused on investment properties, which are located in the United Kingdom. Each segment derives its
revenue from the rental of investment properties.
Industrial

Office

Retail
Warehouse

Unallocated
items

Total

15 602 230

3 988 762

444 409

1 293 509

21 328 910

1 062 312

–

–

–

1 062 312

Fair value adjustments

(1 094 144)

(2 066 356)

(94 000)

(1 263 702)

(4 518 202)

Interest expense

(3 569 778)

(792 722)

(120 854)

–

(4 483 354)

Income tax

(1 101 926)

(362 568)

(28 812)

(3 214)

(1 496 520)

9 046 873

2 547 441

236 883

(188 773)

11 642 424

81 810 332

39 149 394

–

–

120 959 726

Total assets

221 514 361

76 111 378

5 810 000

14 515 946

317 951 685

Total borrowings

112 066 212

42 336 235

2 211 298

–

156 613 745

Figures in GBP

Industrial

Office

Retail
Warehouse

Unallocated
items

Total

Revenue

8 068 174

27 207

394 353

683 562

9 173 296

Fair value adjustments

2 587 489

–

(372 493)

(445 532)

1 769 464

Interest expense

(2 370 137)

–

(157 857)

–

(2 527 994)

(493 063)

(3 907)

(17 347)

(6 525)

(520 842)

4 701 096

23 299

215 016

(446 791)

4 492 620

Additions to investment property

147 989 665

38 871 962

6 272 493

–

193 134 120

Total assets

150 930 704

38 871 962

5 900 000

21 570 052

217 272 718

72 151 398

–

3 182 867

–

75 334 265

Figures in GBP
2017
Statement of profit or loss
Revenue
Profit on disposal of investment
property

Adjusted headline earnings
Statement of financial position
Additions to investment property

2016
Statement of profit or loss

Income tax
Adjusted headline earnings
Statement of financial position

Total borrowings

During the financial year, revenues from a single customer within the industrial segment amounted to
GBP 8 632 940 (2016: GBP 5 36 7 482).
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28.

RELATED PARTIES
GROUP
Figures in GBP

2017

COMPANY
2016

2017

2016

Relationships:
Subsidiaries:

Refer to note 5

Entities with common
directors:

Atlantic Property
Investments Limited
Leaf Capital Proprietary
Limited
Martial Eagle Limited

Directors:

Refer to Directors’ Report

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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Loans receivable from subsidiaries
Balance at beginning of year

–

–

96 521 197

1 444 688

Loan granted during the year

–

–

83 315 907

102 516 962

Loan repayment during the year

–

–

(69 785 857)

(7 440 453)

Balance at end of year

–

–

110 051 247

96 521 197

Balance at beginning of year

–

40 100

–

40 100

Loan repayment during the year

–

(40 100)

–

(40 100)

Balance at end of year

–

–

–

–

Balance at beginning of year

6 775 883

1 790 319

6 775 883

1 790 319

Loan granted during the year

25 689

4 943 411

25 689

4 943 411

(6 759 419)

–

(6 759 419)

–

Refer to note 5 for terms and conditions.
Amount receivable from related party –
Ananya Holdings Limited

Loan receivable from Atlantic Property
Investments Limited

Loan repayment during the year
Interest accrued during the year

149 798

134 510

149 798

134 510

(187 395)

(92 357)

(187 395)

(92 357)

(4 556)

–

(4 556)

–

–

6 775 883

–

6 775 883

1 015 478

–

1 015 478

–

Balance at beginning of year

226 283

99 872

226 283

99 872

Transaction fees

469 000

357 850

469 000

357 850

1 372 886

609 628

1 372 886

609 628

48 731

55 400

48 731

55 400

(1 733 065)

(896 467)

(1 733 065)

(896 467)

383 835

226 283

383 835

226 283

Interest repayment during the year
Transfer to amount receivable
Balance at end of year
Other receivable from Atlantic Property
Investments Limited
Amount due to related party – Martial Eagle Limited

Property service fee
Specific expenses
Payments
Balance at end of year

28.

RELATED PARTIES CONTINUED
Per the property service agreement (“PSA”) (refer to note 7), a property service fee of 0.5% on the gross property
assets, amongst others, was payable to Martial Eagle Limited. Additionally, Martial Eagle Limited is entitled to
transaction fees of 0.5% on the gross asset value, capped at GBP 150 000 per transaction, such fees being
payable only until the Company’s assets reach GBP 500 million. These fees are compensation paid to entities for
key management personnel services.
GROUP
Figures in GBP

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

870 251

650 693

870 251

650 693

180 297

157 325

–

–

Peter Bacon

13 500

11 750

13 500

11 750

Cleopatra Folkes

11 000

10 500

11 000

10 500

Nicholas Winearls

11 000

10 500

11 000

10 500

Laurence Rapp

11 000

4 263

11 000

4 263

Corporate advisor – Leaf Capital Proprietary Limited
(Leaf Capital)
Advisory fees attributable to Leaf Capital for the year
These transactions are conducted at terms equivalent
to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.
Professional fees paid to companies relating to
directors of subsidiaries
An amount of GBP 24 255 (2016: GBP 10 321) has
been paid as directors fees and GBP 156 042
(2016: GBP 147 004) paid for professional fees.
None of these payments have been made to directors
of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited.

Rudolf Pretorius (Appointed 11 April 2016)

29.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(A)

DECLARATION AFTER REPORTING DATE

9 778

–

9 778

–

56 278

37 013

56 278

37 013

On 17 April 2017, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of 4.3 pence for the six months ended 28 February 2017.
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
Figures in GBP
Property

Location

Tenant

Leicester

East Midlands

Giant Booker Limited

Cowes

South West

Giant Booker Limited

Stoke on Trent

West Midlands

Giant Booker Limited

Hull

York. & the Humber

Giant Booker Limited

Haydock

North West

Giant Booker Limited

Barnsley

York. & the Humber

Giant Booker Limited

Paignton

South West

Giant Booker Limited

Wolverhampton

West Midlands

Giant Booker Limited

Bristol Speedwell

South West

Giant Booker Limited

Canterbury

South East

Giant Booker Limited

Basingstoke

South West

Booker Limited

Chelmsford

South East

Giant Booker Limited

Chichester

South East

Booker Limited

Newcastle

North East

Giant Booker Limited

Portsmouth

South West

Giant Booker Limited

Epping

South East

Giant Booker Limited

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited

100

2017 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

Industrial

Peterborough

East Anglia

Giant Booker Limited

Norwich

East Anglia

Giant Booker Limited

Lowestoft

East Anglia

Giant Booker Limited

Aldershot

South West

Giant Booker Limited

Bristol Avonmouth

South West

Giant Booker Limited

York

York. & the Humber

Booker Limited

Glasgow

Scotland

Giant Booker Limited

Hamilton

Scotland

Giant Booker Limited

Oban

Scotland

Giant Booker Limited

Kirkaldy

Scotland

Giant Booker Limited

Paisley

Scotland

Giant Booker Limited

Stirling

Scotland

Giant Booker Limited

Aberdeen

Scotland

Giant Booker Limited

Perth

Scotland

Giant Booker Limited

St Helens

North West

Robert McBride Ltd

Cardiff

Wales

Specialist Building Products Ltd

Paignton

South West

Specialist Building Products Ltd

Telford

East Midlands

Specialist Building Products Ltd

Telford

East Midlands

Specialist Building Products Ltd

Upton upon Severn

East Midlands

Specialist Building Products Ltd

GLA (sq m)

GMR

GMR (£/sq ft)

GMR (£/sq m)

Value

Valuer

55 619

5 167

247 436

4.45

47.89

3 425 000

Savills (UK) Limited

47 489

4 412

227 455

4.79

51.56

3 320 000

Savills (UK) Limited

91 965

8 544

413 580

4.50

48.41

5 760 000

Directors

87 591

8 137

226 627

2.59

27.85

2 825 000

Savills (UK) Limited

66 097

6 141

325 718

4.93

53.04

4 528 000

Savills (UK) Limited

86 947

8 078

277 955

3.20

34.41

3 425 000

Savills (UK) Limited

76 421

7 100

325 231

4.26

45.81

3 930 000

Savills (UK) Limited

94 035

8 736

380 735

4.05

43.58

5 300 000

Savills (UK) Limited

68 399

6 354

282 472

4.13

44.45

3 650 000

Savills (UK) Limited

40 554

3 768

216 233

5.33

57.39

3 125 000

Savills (UK) Limited

28 532

2 651

187 916

6.59

70.89

2 150 000

Savills (UK) Limited

23 916

2 222

110 471

4.62

49.72

1 190 000

Savills (UK) Limited

48 175

4 476

253 201

5.26

56.57

3 100 000

Savills (UK) Limited
Savills (UK) Limited

45 364

4 214

109 746

2.42

26.04

950 000

85 810

7 972

602 919

7.03

75.63

7 920 000

Directors

95 278

8 852

450 000

4.72

50.84

6 280 000

Directors

85 759

7 967

301 844

3.52

37.89

1 900 000

Savills (UK) Limited

73 469

6 825

268 818

3.66

39.38

1 975 000

Savills (UK) Limited

54 735

5 085

306 836

5.61

60.34

3 260 000

Savills (UK) Limited

61 049

5 672

419 000

6.86

73.88

3 315 000

Savills (UK) Limited

80 377

7 467

267 538

3.33

35.83

2 500 000

Savills (UK) Limited

77 318

7 183

384 602

4.97

53.54

3 890 000

Directors

38 224

3 551

200 883

5.26

56.57

2 387 000

Directors

48 856

4 539

267 281

5.47

58.89

3 071 000

Directors

30 292

2 814

124 402

4.11

44.20

1 325 000

Savills (UK) Limited

38 510

3 578

184 756

4.80

51.64

1 935 000

Savills (UK) Limited

21 037

1 954

107 980

5.13

55.25

1 247 000

Directors

29 747

2 764

220 681

7.42

79.85

2 450 000

Savills (UK) Limited

33 261

3 090

155 000

4.66

50.16

1 280 000

Savills (UK) Limited

31 248

2 903

162 251

5.19

55.89

1 335 000

Savills (UK) Limited

109 556

10 178

526 795

4.81

51.76

7 050 000

Jones Lang LaSalle Limited

48 720

4 526

200 000

4.11

44.19

2 700 000

Cushman & Wakefield LLP

155 486

14 445

512 000

3.29

35.44

6 825 000

Cushman & Wakefield LLP

34 820

3 235

100 000

2.87

30.91

1 350 000

Cushman & Wakefield LLP

142 485

13 237

445 000

3.12

33.62

6 000 000

Cushman & Wakefield LLP

23 629

2 195

70 000

2.96

31.89

900 000

Cushman & Wakefield LLP
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Figures in GBP
Property

Location

Tenant

Wetherby

York. & the Humber

Inspirepac Ltd

Chesterfield

East Midlands

Inspirepac Ltd

Cannock

West Midlands

Gestamp Tallent Limited

Redditch

East Midlands

Halfords Ltd

St Helens

North West

Palmer & Harvey McLane Ltd

Nuneaton

West Midlands

Booker Ltd

Runcorn

North West

DHL Supply Chain Ltd

Greenock

Scotland

EE Ltd

Coventry

West Midlands

E.ON UK Plc

Newcastle

North East

Santander Cards UK Ltd

Peterborough

North East

Thomas Cook Group UK Ltd,Bauer Consumer Media Limited

Wales

Homebase Ltd

Office

Retail Warehouse
Brecon

All properties are single tenanted apart from Peterborough and there are no vacancies.

GLA (sq ft)

GLA (sq m)

GMR

GMR (£/sq ft)

GMR (£/sq m)

Value

Valuer

155 095

14 409

612 750

3.95

42.53

10 550 000

Directors

61 432

5 707

248 188

4.04

43.49

4 250 000

Directors

165 095

15 338

796 956

4.83

51.96

10 000 000

Directors

361 407

33 576

1 889 441

5.23

56.27

28 330 000

Directors

145 966

13 561

688 085

4.71

50.74

11 200 000

Cushman & Wakefield LLP

90 669

8 423

676 128

7.46

80.27

10 150 000

Cushman & Wakefield LLP

635 656

59 054

1 827 000

2.87

30.94

29 250 000

Cushman & Wakefield LLP

61 740

5 736

725 000

11.74

126.40

10 275 000

Cushman & Wakefield LLP

46 515

4 321

1 039 869

22.36

240.63

14 300 000

Cushman & Wakefield LLP

102 650

9 536

2 112 257

20.58

221.49

28 400 000

Directors

177 621

16 502

1 762 804

9.92

106.83

22 980 000

Knight Frank LLP

26 300

2 443

420 800

16.00

172.22

5 810 000
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PROPERTY SEGMENT ANALYSIS
GEOGRAPHICAL
Sector
Industrial
Office
Retail Warehouse

Valuation

Portfolio
(%)

GLA
(sq ft)

GMR

GMR
(%)

GMR
(per sq ft)

221 303 000

73%

3 876 090

16 601 910

73%

4.28

75 955 000

25%

388 526

5 639 930

25%

14.52

5 810 000

2%

26 300

420 800

2%

16.00

303 068 000

100%

4 290 916

22 662 640

100%

34.80

GLA (sq ft)

GLA (%)

GMR

GMR
(%)

North East

325 635

8%

3 984 807

18%

North West

957 275

22%

3 367 598

15%

Total

Scotland

332 915

8%

2 148 234

9%

East Midlands

679 392

16%

3 000 065

13%

South West

603 563

14%

2 824 531

12%

West Midlands

488 279

11%

3 307 268

15%

York. & the Humber

406 951

9%

1 501 934

7%

South East

207 923

5%

1 029 905

4%

104

East Anglia

213 963

5%

877 498

4%

75 020

2%

620 800

3%
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Province

Grand total

4 290 916

100%

22 662 640

100%

GMR

GMR (%)

A

20 053 902

88%

B

2 608 738

12%

22 662 640

100%

Wales

SECTOR
Grade

Grade A: Large multinational or national companies with significant local and/or international operating facilities, strong
financial strength and risk credit ratings
Grade B: Sizable, national companies with multiple operating facilities, average to good financial strength and risk
credit ratings
Grade C: Other to be specified on case by case basis
The above is based on number of facilities, size and guided by D&B credit ratings.

LEASE EXPIRY PROFILE BY REVENUE
(Rent – GBP millions)

LEASE EXPIRY BY RENTABLE AREA PER SECTOR
(GLA – square feet millions)

9

20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0

2023

2024

2025

2027

Thomas Cook (UK) Ltd
Gestamp Tallent Ltd
Palmer & Harvey
McLane Ltd
Robert McBride Ltd

2028

Bauer Limited
Epwin
Halfords Ltd
Santander
InspirepacLTD

2029

2030

2031

2032

DHL Supply Chain Limited
Booker Ltd
E.ON UK Plc
EE
Homebase Ltd

2023

2024

2025

Retail Warehouse

2027

Office

2028

2029

2030

2031

2032

Industrial

Escalations on the UK portfolio will occur every five years except for Booker Limited and E.ON UK Limited which have an
increase of 3% on an annual basis. The weighted average rental escalation based on existing leases, by rentable area and
by sector is less than 1% over all sectors (Retail Warehouse, Office and Industrial).
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The average annualised property portfolio yield is 7.27%.

SHAREHOLDER TYPE
Shareholder spread
Public

Number
of holders

%
of holders

Number of
shares

%
of shares

310

95.69%

47 333 325

33.18%

Non-public

14

4.31%

95 337 884

66.82%

Directors and associates

12

3.69%

12 826 516

8.99%

2

0.62%

82 511 368

57.83%

324

100%

142 671 209

100%

Material shareholders (>10%)
Total

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 5% OR MORE OF THE COMPANY’S ISSUED SHARES
AS AT 28 APRIL 2017
Shareholder name

% shareholding

Vukile Property Fund

29.59%

Sentinel Retirement Fund

28.25%

Visio Capital Management

9.32%

ABSA

5.00%

APIL (Management)

5.00%

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

The following table presents a glossary of terms used throughout this report:

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
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Term

Definition

AGM

Annual General Meeting

AltX

Alternative Exchange of the JSE Limited

APIL

Atlantic Property Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Martial Eagle

Atlantic Leaf

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (also referred to as “the Company”)

CDS

Central Depository and Settlement Company Limited

The Code

Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius, 2004

CSDP

Central Securities Depository Participant

EPS

Earnings Per Share, calculated as profit for the period attributable to shareholders of Atlantic Leaf
divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the period

GLA

Gross Lettable Area, the amount of floor space available for rental in a commercial property

HEPS

Headline Earnings Per Share, a measure of an entity’s financial performance, the calculation and
publication of which is a requirement of JSE-listed companies

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

ITL

Intercontinental Trust Limited, the Company administrator for Atlantic Leaf in Mauritius

JSE

JSE Limited – the Johannesburg Stock Exchange

King III

King Code of Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2009

LTV

Loan To Value, the ratio of attributable debt to the market value of an investment property

SEM

Stock Exchange of Mauritius Limited

WALE

Weighted average lease expiry

WAULT

Weighted Average Unexpired Lease Term

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius)
(Registration Number: 119492 C1/GBL)
ISIN: MU0422N00009
SEM share code: ALPL.N0000
JSE share code: ALP
(“Atlantic Leaf” or the “Company”)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Atlantic Leaf will be held on
29 June 2017 at 11h00 Mauritian Time (09h00 South African time) at Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene
72201, Mauritius, for the purpose of presenting the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 28 February
2017, together with the reports of the Directors and the independent auditor, and transacting the following business:

RESOLUTION NUMBER 1:

RESOLUTION NUMBER 6:

THAT the audited financial statements of the
Company and the notes thereto for the year ended
28 February 2017 (a copy of which is attached hereto) be
received and adopted.

THAT the Board be hereby authorised to allot and issue
up to 100 000 000 additional ordinary shares, at the
Board’s discretion, subject to the provisions of the
Mauritian Companies Act 2001, the SEM Listing Rules
and the JSE Listings Requirements, at a target price to
be decided by the Board in due course in line with the
Constitution of the Company and that such authority
granted to the directors shall be valid until the next
Annual General Meeting of shareholders.

RESOLUTION NUMBERS 2.1 – 2.8:
THAT the following directors, who retire and offer
themselves for re-election in accordance with section
12.4.2 of the Company’s Constitution, be re-elected each
by way of a separate vote:
2.1
Mr Paul Stanbrook Leaf-Wright;
2.2
Mr Warren Peter Morton;
2.3
Mr Peter Douglas St. John Bacon;
2.4
Mr Dudley Nicholas Good Winearls;
2.5
Ms Cleopatra Liana Folkes;
2.6
Mr Laurence Gary Rapp;
2.7
Mr Pieter Rudolf Pretorius; and
2.8
Mr Kesaven Moothoosamy.

RESOLUTION NUMBER 3:

RESOLUTION NUMBER 7:
THAT, subject to the provisions of the Mauritian
Companies Act 2001, the SEM Listing Rules and the
JSE Listings Requirements, and pursuant to inter alia the
Company’s Constitution, the Board of Directors of the
Company be and are hereby authorised to allot and issue
additional shares of the Company for cash, until this
authority lapses which shall be at the next Annual General
Meeting or 15 months from the date hereof, whichever
is the earliest, and which authority is subject to the
restrictions set out below:

THAT Mazars, the independent auditor of the Company
be re-appointed until the conclusion of the Company’s
next Annual General Meeting.

•

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4:

•

THAT the Board of Directors be authorised to determine
the remuneration of the independent auditor.

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5:
THAT fees to be paid by the Company to the independent
non-executive directors for their services as directors of
up to GBP 30 000 per independent non-executive director
per year of service or a pro rata share thereof be
approved.

•

the allotment and issue of shares must be made to
persons qualifying as public shareholders and not
to related parties, as defined in the JSE Listings
Requirements;
the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash
must be of a class already in issue or, where this is
not the case, must be limited to such shares options
or rights that are convertible into a class of securities
already in issue;
the total aggregate number of shares which may be
issued for cash in terms of this authority may not
exceed 21,400,681 shares (being 15% of the issued
share capital at the date of this notice of annual
general meeting). Accordingly, any shares issued
under this authority prior to this authority lapsing
shall be deducted from the 21,400,681 shares the
Company is authorised to issue in terms of this
authority for the purpose of determining the remaining
number of shares that may be issued in terms of
this authority;
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•

in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of
shares prior to this authority lapsing, the existing
authority shall be adjusted accordingly to represent
the same allocation ratio; and
the price at which the shares may be issued shall be
no less than:
– a 5% discount to the volume weighted average
traded price of the company’s shares traded on the
JSE Limited, measured over the 30 business days
prior to the date that the price of the issue is
agreed between the Company and the party(ies)
subscribing for the shares (“30 day VWAP”);
– after the Company has issued shares for cash
which represent, on a cumulative basis, within the
period that this authority is valid, 5% or more of
the number of shares in issue prior to that issue,
the Company shall publish an announcement
containing full details of the issue, including the
number of shares issued, the average discount to
the weighted average trade price of the shares
over the 30 days prior to the date that the issue is
agreed in writing and an explanation, including
supporting documentation (if any), of the intended
use of the funds.

The Directors consider that the passing of Resolutions 1
to 7 is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole, and accordingly recommend that
you vote in favour of all the resolutions to be proposed at
the Annual General Meeting.
Resolutions 1 to 6 will require the support of more than
50% of the total votes exercisable by members of the
Company, present in person or by proxy to pass the
resolutions.
In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements resolution 7
will require the support of more than 75% of the total
votes exercisable by members of the Company, present in
person or by proxy to pass the resolution.
Key dates and times for the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders:
Key events

Date

Distribution of Integrated Report and
Notice of Annual General Meeting

31 May 2017

Record date to be recorded in the
register in order to be entitled to vote
at the Annual General Meeting

23 June 2017

Last day to lodge forms of proxy for
the Annual General Meeting by 11h00
Mauritian time (09h00 South African
time)

28 June 2017

Annual General Meeting at 11h00
Mauritian time (09h00 South African
time)

29 June 2017

INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS HOLDING
SHARES IN CERTIFICATED FORM OR
DEMATERIALISED FORM IN “OWN-NAME”
A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of any
member of the Company holding certificated shares who
cannot or does not wish to attend the Annual General
Meeting but who wishes to be represented there at.
Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the
Company’s registered office.
Members of the Company holding shares in certificated
form or dematerialised form in “own name” may elect to:
•
•

attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting; or
alternatively
may appoint an individual as a proxy (who need not
also be a member of the Company) to attend,
participate in, speak and vote in your stead at the
Annual General Meeting by completing the attached
form of proxy and returning it to the addresses below,
to be received by no later than 11h00 Mauritian time
(09h00 South African time) on 28 June 2017:

For shareholders
holding shares on
the Mauritian
sub-register:

The Company Secretary
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebene,72201
Mauritius
Fax: +230 403 0801
Email: alpl@intercontinentaltrust.com

For shareholders
holding shares on
the South African
sub-register:

Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
South Africa
Or by post to:
Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107
Or email to:
Email: proxy@computershare.co.za

Alternatively, the form of proxy may be handed to the
chairman of the Annual General Meeting at the
Annual General Meeting or at any time prior to the
commencement of the Annual General Meeting. Please
note that your proxy may delegate his/her authority to act
on your behalf to another person, subject to the
restrictions set out in the attached form of proxy.

Please note that any member of the Company that is a
company may authorise any person to act as its
representative at the Annual General Meeting.
Any shareholder who completes and lodges a form of
proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in
person at the Annual General Meeting should the
shareholder subsequently decide to do so.

For shareholders
holding shares
on the Mauritian
sub-register:

The Company Secretary
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebene, 72201
Mauritius
Fax: +230 403 0801
Email: alpl@intercontinentaltrust.com

For shareholders
holding shares
on the South
African subregister:

Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
South Africa
Or by post to:
Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107

INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS HOLDING
SHARES IN CERTIFICATED FORM OR
DEMATERIALISED FORM NOT HELD IN
“OWN NAME”
Please note that if you are the owner of dematerialised
shares held through a Central Securities Depository
Participant (“CSDP”), the Central Depository and
Settlement Company Limited (“CDS”) or broker (or their
nominee) and are not registered as an “own name”
dematerialised shareholder, then you are not a registered
shareholder of the Company, but your CSDP, CDS or
broker (or their nominee) would be.

Alternatively, the form of proxy or letter of representation
may be handed to the chairman of the Annual General
Meeting at the Annual General Meeting at any time prior
to the commencement of the Annual General Meeting.

Accordingly, in these circumstances, and subject to the
mandate between yourself and your CSDP, CDS or broker
as the case may be:

VOTING AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING

•

•

if you wish to attend the Annual General Meeting, you
must contact your CSDP, CDS or broker, and obtain
the relevant letter of representation from it;
alternatively
if you are unable to attend the Annual General
Meeting but wish to be represented at the Annual
General Meeting, you must contact your CSDP, CDS
or broker, and furnish it with your voting instructions in
respect of the Annual General Meeting and/or request
it to appoint a proxy. You must not complete the
attached form of proxy. The instructions must be
provided in accordance with the mandate between
yourself and your CSDP, CDS or broker, within the
time period required by your CSDP, CDS or broker.

CSDP’s, CDS or brokers or their nominees, as the case
may be, recorded in the Company’s sub-register as
holders of dematerialised shares should, when authorised
in terms of their mandate or instructed to do so by the
owner on behalf of whom they hold dematerialised
shares, vote by either appointing a duly authorised
representative to attend and vote at the Annual General
Meeting or by completing the attached form of proxy in
accordance with the instructions thereon and return it to
the addresses below, to be received by no later than
11h00 Mauritian time (09h00 South African time) on
28 June 2017:

Or email to:
Email: proxy@computershare.co.za

In order to more effectively record the votes and give
effect to the intentions of members, voting on all
resolutions will be conducted by way of a poll.
By order of the Board
Intercontinental Trust Ltd
Company Secretary
Mauritius
31 May 2017
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Please note that the completed form of proxy must be
delivered to the addresses above or handed to the
chairman of the Annual General Meeting prior to the dates
and times indicated, before your proxy may exercise
any of your rights as a member of the Company at the
Annual General Meeting.

GENERAL INFORMATION

COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION
AND DOMICILE
Republic of Mauritius

REGISTERED OFFICE
c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)
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BANKERS
Barclays Bank Mauritius Limited
1st Floor, Barclays House
68-68A Cybercity, Ebène, 72201
Mauritius
Business registration number: C10068913
First National Bank
RMB Corporate Banking – Cape Town
25th Floor Portside
5 Buitengracht Street
Cape Town, 8001
South Africa
(PO Box 911, Cape Town, 8000)

AUDITORS
Mazars Mauritius
(Business registration number: C14121204)
4th Floor Unicorn Centre
Frère Félix de Valois Street
Port Louis
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)
Mazars South Africa
Mazars House
Rialto Road
Grand Moorings Precinct
Century City
Cape Town, 7441
(PO Box 134, Century City, 7446)

MAURITIAN COMPANY
ADMINISTRATOR AND
COMPANY SECRETARY
Intercontinental Trust Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)

SEM SPONSOR
Perigeum Capital Limited
Level 1 Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)

JSE SPONSOR
Java Capital
6A Sandown Valley Crescent
Sandown, Sandton
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa
(PO Box 2087, Parklands, 2121)

COMPANY REGISTRATION
119492 C1/GBL

FORM OF PROXY
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius)
(Registration Number: 119492 C1/GBL)
ISIN: MU0422N00009
SEM share code: ALPL.N0000
JSE share code: ALP
(“Atlantic Leaf” or the “Company”)

ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED

IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING THE USE OF THIS FORM OF PROXY
Shareholders are advised to read the instructions for completing this form of proxy contained in the notice of the Annual General Meeting to
which this form of proxy is attached, in addition to the notes to this form of proxy.
This form of proxy is intended for use by shareholders of the Company who hold their shares in certificated form or dematerialised form and
held through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”), the Central Depository and Settlement Company Limited (“CDS”) or
broker, who have selected “own name” registration (“own–name dematerialised shareholders”), at the Annual General Meeting of members
of the Company to be held at the Company’s registered office, Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Mauritius, on
Thursday, 29 June 2017 at 11h00 Mauritian time (09h00 South African time). Additional forms of proxy are available from the Company’s
registered office.
This form of proxy is not intended for use by shareholders of the Company who hold their shares in certificated form or dematerialised form
and who have not selected “own name” registration of dematerialised shares. Such shareholders must contact their CSDP, CDS or broker
timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting and request that they be issued with the necessary letter of
representation to do so, or provide the CSDP, CDS or broker timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the
Annual General Meeting in order for the CSDP, CDS or broker to vote in accordance with their instructions at the Annual General Meeting.
This form must be completed in BLOCK LETTERS.
The Company Secretary
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201
Mauritius
Dear Sir/Madam,
being shareholder(s) of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited hereby appoint:

1.

or failing him/her;

2.

or failing him/her;

3.

the chairman of the Annual General Meeting

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 29 June 2017 at 11h00 Mauritius Time
(09h00 South African time) at Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Mauritius, and at any adjournment of the meeting,
which will be held for purposes of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the ordinary resolutions to be
proposed thereat as detailed in the notice of Annual General Meeting; and to vote for and/or against such resolutions and/or to abstain from
voting for and/or against the resolutions in respect of the shares registered in my/our name in accordance with the following instructions:

Resolution

For

Against

Abstain

Resolution number 1 (To receive and adopt the audited financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 28 February 2017)
Resolution number 2.1 (Re-election of Paul Stanbrook Leaf-Wright as director)
Resolution number 2.2 (Re-election of Warren Peter Morton as director)
Resolution number 2.3 (Re-election of Peter Douglas St. John Bacon as director)
Resolution number 2.4 (Re-election of Dudley Nicholas Good Winearls as director)
Resolution number 2.5 (Re-election of Cleopatra Liana Folkes as director)
Resolution number 2.6 (Re-election of Mr Laurence Gary Rapp as director)
Resolution number 2.7 (Re-election of Pieter Rudolf Pretorius as director)
Resolution number 2.8 (Re-election of Kesaven Moothoosamy as director)
Resolution number 3 (Re-appointment of independent auditor)
Resolution number 4 (Authorising directors to determine remuneration of independent auditor)
Resolution number 5 (Approval of independent non-executive directors’ fees)
Resolution number 6 (Authorising directors to allot and issue up to 100,000,000 additional
ordinary shares)
Resolution number 7 (Authorising directors to issue shares for cash)
Consent in terms of Section 327 of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001
I/we a shareholder of the Company, hereby consents to receive notices, statements, reports, accounts, or any other documents
pertaining to the Company at the following email address until such authority is revoked:
Email Address:
I/we undertake to advise the Company within 5 days at the below addresses of any change in my/our email address.
This consent may be revoked at any time on the provision of 5 days’ notice in writing to the Company.
Signed this
Shareholder name:
Assisted by:

day of

2017
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I/We

Form of proxy continued

NOTES:
1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to
attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
2. Notwithstanding the appointment of a proxy by a member who is a natural person, such member may attend the
Annual General Meeting in person and vote thereat, to the exclusion of the appointed proxy.
3. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory(ies);
4. Such proxy(ies) appointed pursuant to this form of proxy may participate in, speak and vote at the Annual General
Meeting in the place of that member at the Annual General Meeting. The person whose name stands first on the form
of proxy and who is present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names
follow. If no proxy is named on a lodged form of proxy, the chairperson shall be deemed to be appointed as the proxy;
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5. A member or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the member, but the total of the votes cast
or abstained may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable in respect of the shares held by the member;
6. Documentary evidence appointing a proxy or establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a
representative capacity must be attached to this form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the Company or the
company secretary or waived by the chairperson of the Annual General Meeting.

FORWARD LOOKING DISCLAIMER

Certain statements made in this document constitute forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by
the use of words such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “predict”, “assurance”, “aim”, “hope”, “risk”, “expect”, “intend”, “estimate”,
“anticipate”, “believe”, “plan”, “seek”, “continue”, or other similar expressions that are predictive or indicative of future events. All
statements other than statements of historical facts included in this document, including, without limitation, those regarding Atlantic
Leaf Properties Limited’s (“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”) expectations, intentions and beliefs concerning, amongst other things,
the Company’s results of operations, financial position, growth strategy, prospects, dividend policy and the industries in which the
Company operates, are forward-looking statements.
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are
outside of the control of the Company and its Directors, which may cause the actual results, performance, achievements, cash flows,
dividends of the Company or industry results to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. As such, forward-looking statements are no guarantee of future
performance.
Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Company’s present and future business
strategies and the environment in which the Company will operate in the future, and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results and performance to differ materially from any expected future results or performance, expressed or
implied, by the forward-looking statement.
Among the important factors that could cause the Company’s actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from
those in the forward-looking statements include, among others, economic conditions in the relevant markets of the world, market
position of the Company or its subsidiaries, earnings, financial position, cash flows, return on capital and operating margins, political
uncertainty, the actions of competitors, activities by governmental authorities such as changes in taxation or regulation, changing
business or other market conditions and general economic conditions.
Forward-looking statements should, therefore, be construed in light of such risk factors and undue reliance should not be placed on
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this document and are not intended to
give assurance as to future results. The information and opinions contained in this document are subject to change without notice
and, subject to compliance with applicable law, the company assumes no responsibility or obligation to update publicly or review any
of the forward-looking statements contained herein.
Atlantic Leaf accepts no responsibility for any loss, of whatever nature, that may arise from use of the information in this presentation
or your reliance on any of the information contained this report, including without limitation the forecast financial information provided
in this report, and in no event will Atlantic Leaf be liable for any loss or damage including without limitation, indirect or consequential
loss or damage, or any loss or damage whatsoever arising from loss of profits arising out of or in connection with the use of this
presentation or the information contained herein. Atlantic Leaf cannot accept any responsibility for any damages or loss arising directly
or indirectly from the use of this presentation and the information contained herein.

